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Amendment to : SB 2025 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

02/09/2015 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
I I d · r r · td d ti eves an appropna JOns an 1c1pa e un er curren aw. 

2013-2015 Biennium 2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds 

Revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Expenditures $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Appropriations $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political 
subdivision 

2013-2015 Biennium 2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 

Counties $0 $0 

Cities $0 $0 

School Districts $0 $0 

Townships $0 $0 

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters) . 

SB 2025 is the apiary law rewrite bill submitted by Legislative Management on behalf of the agriculture interim 
committee. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal 
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

N/A 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

N/A 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

N/A 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation. 

N/A 



Name: Junkert/Baumiller 

�gency: Agriculture 

Telephone: 328-4 756/328-1960 

Date Prepared: 02/12/2015 



15.0032.05000 

Bill/Resolution No.: SB 2025 

FISCAL NOTE 
Requested by Legislative Council 

1211912014 

1 A. State fiscal effect: Identify the state fiscal effect and the fiscal effect on agency appropriations compared to funding 
levels and approoriations anticioated under current law. 

2013-2015 Bienn ium 2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 

General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds General Fund Other Funds 

Revenues $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Expenditures $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

Appropriations $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 

1 B. County, city, school district and township fiscal effect: Identify the fiscal effect on the appropriate political 
subdivision 

2013-2015 Biennium 2015-2017 Biennium 2017-2019 Biennium 

Counties $0 $0 

Cities $0 $0 

School Districts $0 $0 

Townships $0 $0 

2 A. Bill and fiscal impact summary: Provide a brief summary of the measure, including description of the provisions 
having fiscal impact (limited to 300 characters) . 

SB 2025 is the apiary law rewrite bill submitted by Legislative Management on behalf of the agriculture interim 
committee. 

B. Fiscal impact sections: Identify and provide a brief description of the sections of the measure which have fiscal 
impact. Include any assumptions and comments relevant to the analysis. 

N/A 

3. State fiscal effect detail: For information shown under state fiscal effect in 1A, please: 

A. Revenues: Explain the revenue amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each revenue type and fund 
affected and any amounts included in the executive budget. 

N/A 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

$0 

B. Expenditures: Explain the expenditure amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency, line item, and 
fund affected and the number of FTE positions affected. 

N/A 

C. Appropriations: Explain the appropriation amounts. Provide detail, when appropriate, for each agency and fund 
affected. Explain the relationship between the amounts shown for expenditures and appropriations. Indicate whether 
the appropriation or a part of the appropriation is included in the executive budget or relates to a continuing 
appropriation. 

N/A 



Name: JunkerUBaumiller 

Agency: Agriculture 

Telephone: 328-4756/328-1960 

Date Prepared: 12/30/2014 
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Agricu lture Committee 
Roosevelt Park Room, State Capitol 
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1/8/2015 

Job# 21781 

D Subcommittee 

D Conference Committee 

Comm ittee Clerk Signature 

Explanation or reason for introduction of bil l/resol ution :  

Relating to beekeeping; and to the submission of assessments b y  beekeepers .  

M i n utes : II Attachments: #1-5 

An ita Thomas, attorney with the legislative council ,  served on the interi m comm ittee : 
(See attached #1) 

Chairman M i l ler: (16:24) Can you g ive me an example of what a violation of this chapter 
looks l ike and what wou ld q ual ify for criminal penalty? 

An ita Thomas: Someth ing as simple as taking up beekeeping without gett ing l icensed . 

Senator Warner: (23:54) I always understood a colony to be the assemblage of hives in  
one particu lar location . If I understand your  defin ition ,  the inhabitants of each ind ividual h ive 
represent one colony? 

Anita Thomas : What you are talking wou ld be the apiary. The colony would be "those 
residents of the h ive." 

Senator Warner: I guess I understood the apiary to be the business itself. Is there an 
important d istinction between the business wh ich owns h ives and colon ies and the h ives 
and colonies themselves? 

Chairman M i l ler: Let's start at the top and work down: apiary, colony, and beekeeping. 

Anita Thomas: Correct. 

Chairman Mi l ler:  That wi l l  be our defin ition for the purposes of this committee . 

Senator Lucik: Of these sections you went over, do you have a l ist of the sections that are 
troublesome? And which sections we sti l l  need to look at to add to or  take away from? 
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An ita Thomas : The agriculture department wi l l  talk about a few sections they sti l l  have 
concerns about. Those wou ld be the sections our office agrees need to be worked on .  

Senator Oba n :  A couple times we state specifically December 31st, is there a reason why 
we don't do a fu l l  annual rather than just choosing December 31st and then sometimes 
saying a calendar year in  others? 

An ita Thomas : The only reason would be is that it is a clear demarcation .  The beekeepers 
start coming in  the spring,  some a l ittle later. The concept is that your  old l icense expired on 
a date certa in; get a new one when you start your operation in  the new year. 

Representative Chuck Damschen,  District 10, served on the interim comm ittee : 
(27:30) Testified in support of SB 2025, qual ifying that the bi l l  needed more work. The b i l l  
does not add ress a l l  the concerns expressed by the people in  district 10 and other areas 
that have problems with bees . 

Cha irman M i l ler: If we can amend this bi l l  before it leaves the senate , then you'll have less 
work to do in the House.  

Representative Damsche n :  I worked with leg is lative counci l  and I have a l ist of 
amendments.  I don't have the amendments with me today, but I would ask to have the 
chance to go through these amendments with the committee. 

Cha irman M i l ler: We wil l  be sitt ing on the bi l l  for a whi le and probably create a 
subcommittee. 

Representative Damschen : I do support the b i l l ,  but it does need some work to satisfy the 
landowners who are having problems. We're not trying to hamper bee industry. I d idn't hear 
one person at a meeting with the group in  Langdon who was opposed to the bee industry 
or operators, but they were frustrated with the l im itation that it was putting on their 
operations that have been there for many years.  

Samantha Brunner, ND State Apiary Inspector: (See attached #2) 

Senator Warner: (31 :25) I have some questions relative to the inspection of hea lth of the 
colony; I assume you are taking samples of bees? Do you have to mai l  them off to 
somewhere or do the sample onsite? How timely can you get an accurate response and 
how long would the quarantine have to be? 

Sama ntha Brun ner: For the certificate of health , the inspection is more for the bees that 
are travel ing to other states . For example, bees coming from North Dakota going to Texas 
need some sort of document declaring what sort of pests we have found in the h ive. When 
we do these inspections, we are actual ly looking for th ings l ike Varroa Mites which you 
don't need to test for, you can see them . We can also see fou l  brood and if we see fou l  
brood , we do send samples out. It's not a quick response for a beekeeper to take action 
and clear a h ive , it's more so we can compi le a l ist saying "we fou nd these th ings in this 
h ive or we didn't find anything in the h ive ," and issue a certificate stating what was and 
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wasn't found .  We send it to the state where the bees are going.  The state makes a 
determination based on their laws if the beekeeper can enter the state or not. 

Senator Klei n :  During the rewrite, d id you run out of time to get this corrected? Or is there 
just more information com ing in  al l  the time? What is the reason we did n't get it hammered 
out to beg in with? 

Samantha Bru n ner: It's a l ittle of both . There's a lot of d iscussion with a lot of major 
changes and minor changes. Some were overlooked or added after the last interim 
meeting . 

Wi l l  N issen,  President of The North Dakota Beekeepers Association : Testified i n  favor 
of SB 2025 with a few remarks. First, (40 : 1 4) Nissen requested that the defin ition of 
beekeeping as "agricultu ral" wou ld be written back into the b i l l .  Second , (4 1 :08) he 
req uested that a senator would continue the bill that raised the ND Beekeepers 
Association's promotion fees five cents and that that fee would be made continuous. Th i rd ,  
(42:1 5) N issen asked that n o  d istance laws would be added to the b i l l .  

Senator Warner: (44 :5 1 ) If we retained the defin ition of  beekeeping as agricultura l ,  does 
that e l iminate the possib i l ity of bees inside urban areas? Do zon ing ord inances cover the 
placement of bees in urban areas or does extra territorial zon ing affect their proxim ity to 
u rban areas? 

Wi l l  N isse n :  I t  is against the law to have bees in city l im its . 

Chairman M i l ler: You can't p lace an apiary in ,  say, the city of M inot? 

Wi l l  N issen :  It is against Minot's city ord inances, I do not believe it's an issue of state law. 

Senator Klei n :  You heard the Agricu lture Commissioner about the four  issues they would 
l ike to address . Have you worked with them? Do you agree with these four  issues? 

Wi ll N isse n :  The Beekeepers Association supports everything I see in her testimony. 

Chairman M i l ler: I have a q uestion about the signage and identification of the apiary. What 
do you prefer for identification? 

Wi l l  N issen : Currently the sign is 8 x 1 1  and is what we have used for more than 30 years .  
If you staple the sign to the h ive you can d rive up to  the bee yard and see the sign from a 
d istance. It wou ld be put on the front of the h ive with contrasting colors. When the bee yard 
is moved that sign is with it. 

Chairman M i l ler: Do you support the idea of a number and designation? 

Wi l l  N isse n :  No I don't. I'd rather see the beekeeper's name and number. Then the 
beekeeper can take care of the problem without having to cal l  the Agriculture Department. 
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Chairman M i l ler: Do you th ink it would be a hindrance to say you need to have this sign 
and a number on it? 

Wi l l  N issen:  No. 

Chairman M i l ler: If you have a number, than I know you are properly l icense with the 
state. 

Senator Warner: What about spray painting a number to the h ive? Does that id number 
follow the business? 

Will  N isse n :  The n umber stays the same for the beekeeper. I want my name, my contact 
information on the h ive . Then I can fix the problem . 

Opposing:  

Dustin McGregor, Fairdale: (see attached #3a and #3b) 

Jesse G ifford , Beekeeper: (1 :05:15) Testified with a neutral opinion on SB 2025. First, 
Gifford testified that the beekeeper should be responsible for covering the costs of moving 
h ives even if it is the landowner who changes his mind .  Second , he expressed concern 
over the timeline to attach placards to h ives. Th ird , he requested that since the l icense was 
due March 15\ the expiration would be February 281h. 

Chairman M i l ler: So you're saying we need a date certain there to make sure that people 
are under l icense? 

Jesse G ifford : I was under the impression that it operated kind of l ike a fish ing l icense, 
expir ing on a date. It should be a fu l l  calendar year. 

Cha irman M i l ler: In regards to home and farm owners, how many complaints do you get in  
a year? 

Jesse G ifford : I had two complaints this year. Once I put the bees in the wrong place. 
Another time the landowner changed his mind so I removed the bees . 

Senator Larsen :  Are the laws and regu lations in  the other states worse, better or about the 
same as North Dakota? 

Jesse G ifford: Louisiana wants a health certificate because they are concerned about fou l  
brood . California wants fire ants cleaned off any h ives coming from the southern states .  
The bees are heavily concentrated in Cal ifornia because they set bees on almond trees two 
and a half h ives per acre. The laws are al l  pretty s imi lar, but Louisiana has tougher 
l icensing laws. 

Chairman M i l ler: How do you determine how many h ive boxes to place in a location? 
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Jesse G ifford : I look at the acres of flowers. I try to set 64 hives down; I go as high as 128. 
With sunflowers I've gone up to 256 hives. With that many hives, I made sure there was 
water and it was a good distance from a farm yard and as far off the road as possible. 

Senator Larsen :  What is the difference between the density here and California? We're 
gathering honey here, whereas the main idea there is pollination? 

Jesse G ifford : Yes. 

Senator Larsen :  What if a hive flies off a piece of equipment or tips over? If you look at the 
pictures (attachment #3b) there is no phone number on the hive so no one can let the 
beekeeper know if something is wrong with the hive. 

Jesse Gifford : Usually I'm around to my hives within two weeks, so that isn't a big deal. 

Senator Klei n :  If you look at Dustin's pictures, you get the idea that someone isn't doing 
something properly. Our purpose for identification is to create communication. 

Jesse G ifford : I'm not arguing that there shouldn't be a placard, just that there should be 
an extended timeline to attach the placard. 

Senator Kle i n :  How would you address the situation if someone asked you for advice on 
how to address the situation in the pictures? 

Jesse Gifford : I would call the beekeeper and ask them to put water or sugar out to get the 
bees away from my house. If I were the beekeeper, I would move them. 

Kristie Sundee n :  (see attached #4) 

Senator Kle i n :  (1 :32:16) Maybe we aren't applying the law currently? We are rewriting this 
but certainly even after the rewrite, unless we regulate, it won't change much. 

Kristie S u ndeen : That's true. I have been calling the agriculture department for 5 years, 
every year I turn in unregistered apiaries. We have complained continuously about 
unregistered apiaries and lack of identification that does not follow the state law. Often time 
there is no identification on the hives. 

Senator Klei n :  Do you have bees on your land? 

Kristie Su ndeen : My husband and my father-in-law have bees on their property. We know 
who owns them. 

Senator Kle i n :  What do you recommend to land owners who have unregistered bees on 
their land? 

Kristie Su ndee n :  I contact them and let them know but the problem is that we have a lot of 
absentee land owners. I know not every beekeeper is a problem and I know the whole state 
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doesn't have a problem but Cavalier County has a problem. There has to be a balance 
between bees and farmers. 

Senator Klei n :  Beyond the law and the rewrite, we just have to look farther to the 
agriculture department. 

Kristie Su ndeen : They have made steps forward and things are starting to get addressed. 
We are impatient to the point that if we turn in an unregistered apiary, the agriculture 
department needs to have immediate fines and penalties. With enough penalties, they'll 
start following the laws. If the beekeeper is following the laws, they shouldn't care. 

Vice Chairman Lu ick: Do you have the right to spray bees on your property? 

Kristie Su ndee n :  No, you cannot because of federal and EPA laws. On most insecticide 
labels, there is a special advisory that says you cannot spray anything if you have bees in 
flight on that property. 

Vice Chairman Lu ick: Even if it's in your own personal yard? You have to go to the 
department of agriculture if you have problems? 

Kristie Su ndeen : Yes. The problem is you have people who want to get around the law 
and take their own action. I tell them to call the Department of Agriculture. If you can't talk 
to the beekeeper and work things out between you, you have to take it to the Department of 
Agriculture. You cannot destroy their property even if it is on your property; it is against the 
law for you to do that. 

Senator Larsen :  These unregistered hives, have they been a problem in the five years 
you've been watching this? Are they the same people and where do they coming from? 

Kristie Sundee n :  It rotates. The ones that have been there for a long time are beginning to 
get cleaned up. There are still some that are violations and unregistered, but it's the ones 
that move in that are the worst. I found an apiary five years ago by following tracks. It was 
in the middle of a field between two tree rows and if you hadn't followed the tracks, you 
never would've known it was there. We called the landowner, the hives didn't have 
permission to be there. The landowner called the Department of Agriculture and turned it in. 
It was empty there for two years and now a new guy is dropping unregistered hives in that 
location. 

Shauna Shneider, Cavalier Cou nty: (see attached #5) First, (1 :44:05) if the Bee 
Association would like to keep bees listed as agricultural, but then they should be taxed 
agricultural. If they are going to be commercial, they need to be assessed commercially 
and taxed. Second, (1 :44:56) there needs to be a two mile distance between apiaries and 
paved roadways (for road construction and oil road workers) or at least provisions should 
give the Agriculture Department power to limit apiaries on roadways that are getting work 
done. 
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Marcia G ifford , Fairdale: Testified in favor of SB 2025; imposing a timeline on how long 
the hives could remain would be unfeasible for bees because they are an agricultural 
product dependent on weather. 

Don Faber, Motorcycl ist from Abate: Testified in opposition to SB 2025; Requested that 
hives would be moved a quarter of a mile away from any state highways. 

Josh Freema n ,  Beekeeper from Turtle Lake : ( 1  : 57:50) Requested that if putting the 
license numbers on the hives becomes mandatory, it should also be mandatory for the 
beekeepers name and phone number to be on the hives so the landowner can contact the 
beekeeper directly. 

Tom Bodine,  N D  Department of Agriculture Deputy Comm issioner: ( 1  : 59:44) 
Explained the Agriculture Department's process in addressing hive violations. 
He provided information. (2 : 0 1  : 50) In 20 1 3, the beekeeper license registrations were 205. 
This last year, registration rose to 221 with an increase of 7.8%. Registered colonies have 
increased 8.4% statewide from 482,000 to 522,000 colonies. Registered locations are up 
1 4.2%. Registered locations went from 1 1 ,050 to 1 2,620 locations. In 2 0 1 3, the department 
had 59 bee complaints decreasing 40% to 24 complaints this year. Bodine also stated 
(2 :03 :36) that the department has limited regulatory power. All the department needs is 
landowner permission and registered location from the beekeeper. The department cannot 
deny or approve location on bias. 

Senator Oba n :  Does the Agriculture Department have any opinion on stiffer penalties and 
fines for unregistered? 

Tom Bod ine:  We have developed a penalty matrix when it comes to unregistered 
locations. This past year we sent out warning letters and also issued fines on beekeepers 
in that situation. This is an ongoing process. Once a letter warning has been issued, then it 
goes through a five year process. If they violate that chapter again, it's immediate fine. If it 
happens again, it is a stiffer penalty. 

Chairman Mi l ler:  What is the current fine? 

Tom Bod ine:  It can be up to $5,000 . We have it different for unregistered locations without 
landowner permission. We can provide further information to the committee on how we 
enforce penalties. 

Senator Larsen :  I'd like to see a five year window back on what fines have been paid and 
who has paid them. 

Tom Bod ine: In the past there have been warning letters, but this past year is the first year 
in the last five years that we have issued fines. 

Chairman M i l ler: Closed the hearing. 
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D Subcommittee 
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Explanation or reason for introducti 
(Committee Work) 
Relating to beekeeping; and to the submission of assessments by beekeepers, 

M i n utes : chments: # 1, 2a - 2h, 3 

Chairman M i l ler: Distributed email from Shauna Schneider from Wales, ND to the senate 
committee members (see attachment #1 ). Also distributed material provided by the 
Department of Agriculture concerning bee complaint process (attachments #2a-2h). 

Senator Klei n :  Looking at the County Summary of bee complaints (see attachment #2a), 
shouldn't there be a lot more? Only 4 people in Cavalier county have complained according 
to this. Most of what I heard, it looks like we have the law in place and we don't seem to be 
able to regulate to the degree that we should be. Maybe we need another bill specific to 
addressing the complaints; perhaps increasing fines? 

Vice Chairman Lu ick: There seems to be complaints out there but there seems to be a 
question in whose colonies they are and difficulty getting those issues taken care of in a 
timely fashion. In my mind there should be a way to address the problems and get them 
taken care of through labeling. The number of cases here is dramatically down from 2013. 

Cha i rman M i l ler: This is a list of people who called the Department of Agriculture. I don't 
think this is indicative of what is going on. Can we be certain of how the Agriculture 
Department has compiled this? They don't really have a system for doing that. 

Senator Oban : I specifically remember one of them saying that there really isn't a process 
in place at the Agriculture Department to file the complaints. Maybe this is random 
recording of a few people who take calls and there really isn't a process in place. 

Cha i rman M i l ler: I know people have said that they have been complaining a long time but 
that they have just quit calling the Agriculture Department. In regards to the bill, I have been 
talking to Tom Bodine. We are probably going to sit down the Anita Thomas and work this 
version and clean it up. For example, the signage issue, what kind of size, what kind of 
numbers are on it, etc. I actually had a bill I was going to introduce, but it would probably 
be better to put on this bill as an amendment (see attachment #3). What this would do is as 
a condition of licensure, the beekeepers would have to make themselves available to 
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farmers so that the farmers can spray. That way the people around the area can take care 
of their business too. Because of fed law you can get into a lot of trouble if you kill a 
beehive with your pesticides. This would make it that if the beekeeper isn't protecting their 
hives, they could lose their license. Senator Larsen has also introduced a bill concerning 
the honey check off; I was thinking we could put that on this bill too. 

Senator Larsen :  What about the example of the spacing of these hives? For example, one 
company comes in and talks to the landowner or whoever and the other company comes in 
and the 400 hives turns into 1200 hives. I'm not into the whole radius idea, but is there a 
way a person can address that concern? 

Chairman M i l ler: I don't know. The folks that came here and testified from my area, they 
are going to ask for a lot more than we can give them. We can't hamstring the honey 
producers to a point where they can't do their jobs. 

Senator Kle i n :  If we regulate what we currently have in place, they would almost be 
satisfied. Is there a master list so we know where all these hives are? Is that list compiled 
after the hives are set out or when they are applying? 

Cha irman M i l ler: I think it is after the fact. I think the site needs to be marked and recorded 
before the bees are placed. We need to be lenient but the site still needs to be marked and 
reported. 

Senator Larsen : Is the labeling new? If I understand 4-12 and 2-14, it's just making the 
label more legible? 

Chairman M i l ler: We're changing the legibility size. The Agriculture Department wants to 
assign them a three digit number as well to go on the hive. 

Senator Oba n :  Look at page 3, line 26. They're giving the choice of "or" right now. Can we 
just make it an "and?" Then there would be a three digit number and personal contact 
information. 

Chairman M i l ler: I agree. 

Senator Klein :  Would there be an issue if we required both? 

Chairman M i l ler: The only thing that was brought up was that one guy didn't like the idea 
of pounding a post at the entry way of the hive. 

Senator Oba n :  There is no minimum requirement of where that sign is placed, correct? 

Chairman M i l ler: Correct. This is affixing it to the hive and ensuring visibility. 

Senator Klei n :  Line 30, page 3: "It is visible upon approach to the apiary's main entrance" I 
agree. I don't think people should have to drive up close to the hive so its identification. 



Senate Agriculture Comm ittee 
SB 2025 
January 1 5th, 201 5 
Page 3 

Senator Oba n :  They include that language about the identification number too. I'm trying to 
recall reading the definitions of apiary. Is this where they are actually physically located? 
What do they consider the main entrance of the apiary. 

Vice Cha irman Lu ick: An apiary is processing area. A colony is the location in the fields. 
What we are looking at here is identifying the colonies with both a placard and a sign. 

Chairman M i l ler: An apiary is the "Area where all the boxes are." 

Senator Oba n :  It says on page 1, an "'Apiary' means the site at which one or more 
colonies of bees are kept." 

Senator Warner: Is this going to be an issue as the hives move around having the number 
marked on the hive? 

Senator Larsen :  The president of the bee association said that the number is one number 
for everywhere. 

Senator Klein: But if it is assigned by our Agriculture Commissioner, wouldn't the 
California commissioner want to assign one as well? Also, do we have a list of the issues 
the beekeepers had with this bill? 

Chairman M i l ler: They did say they would rather have their name and number as opposed 
to the three digit number. But the Agriculture Department likes the three digit number. I 
kind of like both because then I know that they have been certified by the Agriculture 
Department because they have that number. 

Senator Larsen : The Bee Association president said that he was ok with the (3-digit) 
number and his name and number on the hives. I don't think anybody was happy about 
putting a post at the end of the field. I agree with them. The boxes need to be identified. 

Chairman M i l ler: I did get an email from a constituent. They have five boxes in their yard 
for their kids and they were worried that they were going to be lumped into being regulated 
now. I this is something we need to look at; no sense casting too broad of a net. 

Senator Klei n :  I don't know how we could regulate every issue. 

Chairman M i l ler: There are a lot of significant differences between this and the original 
law. We are taking out the clause that would require beekeepers to submit a contract with 
the landowner. Anita really feels like that is not something we should be doing, but we can 
look through it further into it. My constituents felt like that decision was going backwards 
and not improving the situation. 

Senator Larsen :  I just want to reiterate that posting a sign out on the edge of the road is 
not popular. 

Senator O ban volunteered to work with Chairman M il ler and the Agriculture Department 
to draft amendments. 
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Explanation or  reason for introduction of b 
(Committee Work) 
Relating to beekeeping; ·and to the submission of assessments by beekeepers, 

M i n utes : II Attachments: # 1 

Chairman M i l ler distributed the amendments Senator Oban, Anita Thomas, and himself 
had worked on to address problems (see attachment #1 ). He stated that some of the 
amendments drafted were based on SB 2228 (killed in committee) regarding pesticide 
application. They took out the references to pesticides and gave the agriculture 
commissioner stronger enforcement ability for beekeepers who were not abiding by the 
law. 

Senator Klei n :  In number 1 on page 4 (see attachment #1 page 1) in identifying the hives, 
we need a three digit number and then would we still need a placard by the entrance? 

Chairman M i l ler: No they would both be affixed to the hive. The three digit number, name, 
and phone number of the beekeeper. 

Senator Larsen :  Hopefully when they are putting their hives in this location, the names will 
be on both sides of the box so someone can see the information when they drive up. 

Cha i rman M i l ler: 99% of the hives go on the trail, not an intersection per se. 

Senator Oba n :  We had also discussed adding "height" on page 4 part 1.b (see attachment 
#1, page 1) "Displaying the beekeeper's name and phone number in a location 'and height' 
that is visible." I see that the discussion we had had never got inserted into the final 
amendment. 

Chairman M i l ler: In part a it says uppermost box. 

Senator Oba n :  So we put it in a and not in b? 

Chairman M i l ler: I guess it didn't make it into the b part, but I imagine they will follow each 
other. 
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Senator Klei n :  If it's visible upon approach, it would have to be higher up anyway, correct? 

Senator Oba n :  Our discussion was that sometimes when you affix the information to the 
hive it is visible at approach but then the grass grows over it. 

Senator Warner: What is the order in which the boxes are added to a hive; do they just 
keep adding boxes to the top or do they add them on the bottom and move them up? 

Senator Larsen :  The bee boxes are about a foot high. It's just a square box; there is 
nothing different about either section. So they put the queen bee in one section and the 
bees in the lower section and as they start making the cone, they keep stacking sections 
on. So these sections will all have an individual label on them. Each little section they make 
is going to be labeled with the address on it. 

Chairman M i l ler invited John Miller to speak. 

John Mi l ler, M i l ler Honey Fa rms I nc., Gackle ND: (5:45) Testified in support of 2025, 
stating that ND has had a light policy approach to agriculture and all of agriculture, 
including beekeeping, has benefited from that. He said that the stewardship issues like 
water would be better solved with the agriculture department and beekeepers. 

Chairman M i l ler: (8: 11) Do you feel comfortable with the amendments we proposed? 

John M il ler: We are uncomfortable with language that would require the provision of water 
when water is unavailable. This is broadly ambiguous knowing that the honeybee alighting 
from the hive may forage 2 miles from the hive. I believe the commissioner could find the 
rule making remedy without legislative edict 

Chairman M i l ler: We have to have some sort of teeth to the people who aren't being 
responsible, and the constituents will be unhappy if we don't address some of their 
problems. Most bees are beside some sort of water supply but my concern is when there 
are drought conditions and bees move into farmsteads and I think this "sufficient water" 
part is addressing that. 

John M i l ler: We strive to cultivate good relationships with our landowners, over the years I 
first witnessed and now participate in removing bee colonies in draught conditions if the 
bees are really bothering residences. I prefer the idea of the commissioner having 
advanced authority to act. 

Chairman M i l ler: This addition of condition of licensure gives the agriculture department 
discretion. I think "sufficient water" is broad enough where it won't be a burden on you to 
put water by each one of your hives. 

Senator Klei n :  I know it's under the licensure portion but I think there's too much one can 
read into what "sufficient water" means. I don't know if there's another way of stating that, 
but don't bees need water to make honey? 
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John Mi l ler: Yes, bees are a livestock and they need water. I'm not aware of any empirical 
studies stating how much water a colony needs during the day dependent on conditions. 

Senator Klei n :  So overall, the amendments are acceptable to you? That water one creates 
the most concern? 

John Mi l ler: Philosophically, I'm not sure it's good governance to insert minutia into the 
legislation. I trust the commissioner and the department to work in collaboration with the 
beekeepers to find a remedy. 

Senator Larsen :  For clarification, I thought the problem was in the fall of the year when 
their forage might be over. I thought the issue was that they were looking to find sugars and 
not just water. 

Chairman M i l ler: I would think that there is water nearby most of the time, but perhaps the 
water is in a place that creates a nuisance. If we don't put something in the law, the 
agriculture department does necessarily have authority to make a rule in this manner. 

Senator Warner: I'm not entirely sure what the definition of public nuisance would be, if it 
can be established that the bees are creating a nuisance by looking for water or forage in 
someone's yard, would that be sufficient authority? I understand your concern about the 
water as minutia; the restrictions here have more to do with public health. Maybe we could 
say that if it does endanger to public health, the bees need to be relocated. 

Chairman M i l ler: c.1 addresses (see attachment #1 page 2, section 4, part c.1) that and 
maybe it's broad enough that we don't need b. 

Senator Warner: I would be open to taking out b about the sufficient water. 

Senator Klei n moved the amendments with the exception of b, under section 4 (see 
attachment #1) 

Vice Chairman Luick seconded the motion. 

A Roll  Cal l  vote was taken. Yea : 6; Nay: O; Absent: 0. 

Senator Klein moved for a Do Pass As Amended. 

Vice Chairman Luick seconded the motion. 

Senator Larsen :  It's been a while since I worked with bees, but I remember putting out 
sugars and nutrients to feed the bees and keep them healthy before we moved out the 
hive. So I'm glad we took food and water out of the bill so the agriculture department and 
the beekeepers can work through it. 

Senator Klei n :  You're still going to need to provide food and water; people want their bees 
to do well. 
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Senator Warner agreed that the legislation should be light to provide appropriate flexibility 
for the agriculture department and beekeepers to work together. 

A Rol l  Cal l  vote was taken. Yea: 6; Nay: O; Absent: 0. 

Do Pass carries. 

Senator Oban will carry the bill. 
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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2025 

Page 2, line 4, replace "required" with "-Application - Declaration" 

Page 2, after line 13, insert: 

"4. As a condition of licensure, the applicant shall declare that: 

.a_,_ An apiary will not be placed at a location without first obtaining the 
consent of the property owner: 

Q_,_ Bees at each location will be provided with sufficient water; and 

Q,. An apiary will be relocated at the request of the agriculture 
commissioner if: 

ill The commissioner. after examining documentary evidence. has 
determined that the health or welfare of an individual is 
endangered as a result of the apiary's location; 

ill The individual referenced in paragraph 1 resides on land 
contiguous to that on which the apiary has been placed; 

Ql The commissioner has identified another acceptable location for 
placement of the apiary; and 

.(41 There are no other contractual or other legal impediments to the 
relocation." 

Page 3, remove lines 18 through 30 

Page 4, replace lines 1 through 3 with: 

".1. A beekeeper shall identify each apiary for which the beekeeper is 
responsible by: 

.a_,_ Affixing a three-digit identification number. assigned by the agriculture 
commissioner, to the uppermost box of a hive that is visible upon 
approach to the apiary's main entrance. provided each digit is at least 
three inches [7.62 centimeters] high, one-half inch [1.27 centimeters] 
wide. and weather-resistant: and 

b. Displaying the beekeeper's name and phone number in a location that 
is visible upon approach to the apiary's main entrance. provided the 
numbers and letters used are at least one and one-half inches [3.81 
centimeters] high and weather-resistant." 

Page 4, line 4, replace the second "is" with "may be" 

Page 4, line 27, replace", provided" with". Except when conducting an inspection in 
accordance with section 4.1-16-13," 

Page 4, line 27, after "commissioner" insert "shall" 

Page 4, line 27, replace "makes" with "make" 

Page No. 1 15.0032.05002 



Page 4, line 31, after the underscored period insert "The commissioner may charge a fee to 
cover the costs of inspecting an apiary under this section." 

Page 6, line 4, after "chapter" insert "or rules adopted under this chapter" 

Page 6, after line 9, insert: 

"4. The violation of any condition of licensure. as set forth in section 4.1-16-02, 
is deemed to be a violation of this chapter." 

Page 6, line 10, replace "Relocation of apiary - Petition - Hearing" with "Beekeeping -
Agricultural practice" 

Page 6, remove lines 11 through 31 

Page 7, replace lines 1 through 12 with" Beekeeping is deemed to be an agricultural practice." 

Renumber accordingly 
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February 6, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2025 

Page 1, line 3, remove "and" 

Page 1, line 4, after the semicolon insert "and to provide a penalty" 

Page 2, line 4, replace "required" with "-Application - Declaration" 

Page 2, after line 13, insert: 

"4. As a condition of licensure. the applicant shall declare that: 

.§..:. An apiary will not be placed at a location without first obtaining the 
consent of the property owner; and 

b. An apiary will be relocated at the request of the agriculture 
commissioner if: 

ill The commissioner, after examining documentary evidence. has 
determined that the health or welfare of an individual is 
endangered as a result of the apiary's location; 

.{2)_ The individual referenced in paragraph 1 resides on land 
contiguous to that on which the apiary has been placed; 

Ql The commissioner has identified another acceptable location for 
placement of the apiary; and 

ffi There are no other contractual or other legal impediments to the 
relocation." 

Page 3, remove lines 18 through 30 

Page 4, replace lines 1 through 3 with: 

"i A beekeeper shall identify each apiary for which the beekeeper is 
responsible by: 

a. Affixing a three-digit identification number. assigned by the agriculture 
commissioner. to the uppermost box of a hive that is visible upon 
approach to the apiary's main entrance, provided each digit is at least 
three inches [7.62 centimeters] high, one-half inch [1.27 centimeters] 
wide, and weather-resistant: and 

b. Displaying the beekeeper's name and phone number in a location that 
is visible upon approach to the apiary's main entrance, provided the 
numbers and letters used are at least one and one-half inches [3.81 
centimeters] high and weather-resistant." 

Page 4, line 4, replace the second "is" with "may be" 

Page 4, line 27, replace", provided" with". Except when conducting an inspection in 
accordance with section 4.1-16-13," 

Page 4, line 27, after "commissioner" insert "shall" 

Page No. 1 15.0032.05003 
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Page 4, line 27, replace "makes" with "make" 

Page 4, line 31, after the underscored period insert "The commissioner may charge a fee to 
cover the costs of inspecting an apiary under this section." 

Page 6, line 4, after "chapter" insert "or rules adopted under this chapter" 

Page 6, after line 9, insert: 

"4. The violation of any condition of licensure, as set forth in section 4.1-16-02, 
is deemed to be a violation of this chapter." 

Page 6, line 10, replace "Relocation of apiary - Petition - Hearing" with "Beekeeping -
Agricultural practice" 

Page 6, remove lines 11 through 31 

Page 7, replace lines 1through12 with "Beekeeping is deemed to be an agricultural practice." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 2 15.0032.05003 
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Adopt prepared amendments except for section 4, part b: "bees at each location will be 
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Sen. Jerry Klein y 
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Com Standing Committee Report 
February 9, 2015 8:49am 

Module ID: s_stcomrep_25_013 
Carrier: Oban 

Insert LC: 15.0032.05003 Title: 06000 

REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2025: Agriculture Committee (Sen. Miller, Chairman) recommends AMENDMENTS 

AS FOLLOWS and when so amended, recommends DO PASS (6 YEAS, 0 NAYS, 
0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). SB 2025 was placed on the Sixth order on the 
calendar. 

Page 1, line 3, remove "and" 

Page 1, line 4, after the semicolon insert "and to provide a penalty" 

Page 2, line 4, replace "required" with "-Application - Declaration" 

Page 2, after line 13, insert: 

"4. As a condition of licensure, the applicant shall declare that: 

a. An apiary will not be placed at a location without first obtaining the 
consent of the property owner; and 

Q,, An apiary will be relocated at the request of the agricu lture 
commissioner if: 

ill The commissioner, after examining documentary evidence, has 
determined that the health or welfare of an individual is 
endangered as a result of the apiary's location: 

ill The individual referenced in paragraph 1 resides on land 
contiguous to that on which the apiary has been placed: 

.Ql The commissioner has identified another acceptable location 
for placement of the apiary; and 

.(11 There are no other contractual or other legal impediments to 
the relocation ." 

Page 3, remove lines 18 through 30 

Page 4, replace lines 1 through 3 with : 

".1. A beekeeper shall identify each apiary for which the beekeeper is 
responsible by: 

a. Affixing a three-digit identification number, assigned by the 
agriculture commissioner, to the uppermost box of a hive that is 
visible upon approach to the apiary's main entrance, provided each 
digit is at least three inches [7.62 centimeters] high, one-half inch 
[1 .27 centimeters] wide, and weather-resistant; and 

Q,, Displaying the beekeeper's name and phone number in a location 
that is visible upon approach to the apiary's main entrance, provided 
the numbers and letters used are at least one and one-half inches 
[3.81 centimeters] high and weather-resistant." 

Page 4, line 4, replace the second "§." with "may be" 

Page 4, line 27, replace", provided" with" . Except when conducting an inspection in 
accordance with section 4.1-16-13," 

Page 4, line 27, after "commissioner" insert "shall" 

Page 4, line 27, replace "makes" with "make" 

(1 ) DESK (3) COMMITTEE Page 1 s_stcomrep_25_013 
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Module ID: s_stcomrep_25_013 
Carrier: Oban 

Insert LC: 15.0032.05003 Title: 06000 

Page 4, line 31 , after the underscored period insert "The commissioner may charge a fee to 
cover the costs of inspecting an apiary under this section ." 

Page 6, line 4, after "chapter" insert "or rules adopted under this chapter" 

Page 6, after line 9, insert: 

"4. The violation of any condition of licensure. as set forth in section 
4.1-16-02. is deemed to be a violation of this chapter." 

Page 6, line 10, replace "Relocation of apiary - Petition - Hearing" with "Beekeeping -
Agricultural practice" 

Page 6, remove lines 11 through 31 

Page 7, replace lines 1 through 12 with "Beekeeping is deemed to be an agricultural 
practice." 

Renumber accordingly 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of bil l/resol ution: 

Relating to the submission of assessments by beekeepers; and to provide a penalty 

M inutes: Attachments #1-9 

Anita Thomas, Leg islative Counc i l :  (Attachment #1) 

(15:39) 
Representative Diane Larson: On page 5 in several places it talks about the Agriculture 
Commissioner charging a fee? It doesn't say how much? 

Anita Thomas: The statute just references the authority. They are just looking to recover 
their costs. The Agriculture Department can also address that. 

Representative Jessica Haak: On page 2, the application of a minor. It just says the word 
"parent ." Does that also cover legal guardian as well? 

Anita Thomas:  Yes. When we say parent we mean the actual parent plus anybody who 
has legal authority. But an aunt for the summer would not be eligible. 

Representative Jessica Haak: On page 5 at the top "good faith effort." What does that 
mean? 

Anita Thomas: Whatever a jury thinks it is. 

Representative Damschen: In support of the bill. Suggested to have a date to have the 
bees removed. If there are no flowers they get restless. There are a few beekeepers that 
are causing problems. 

Carrie Larson, Plant Ind ustries Director, ND Agricu lture Department: 
(Attachment #2a & 2b) 
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(24 : 1 2) 
Representative Craig Headland : Do you think we are to the point where we need to have 
consent of the property owner in writing? 

Carrie Larson: That section was removed by Legislative Council. Since it is a contract 
between the beekeeper and the landowner, the Agriculture Department is just enforcing the 
law. As long as we had the name and the number we would be able to license beekeepers 
without having it written. 

Representative Craig Headland : Has the Agriculture Department fined a beekeeper that 
has illegally put hives on property without permission? 

Carrie Larson: The apiary program changed in 201 3 .  We did a lot of education and 
outreach to let the industry know that there was going to be some changes as far as 
enforcement. In 20 1 3  we issued just warning letters. In 2014 some enforcement was 
taken. We issued warning letters to 45 beekeepers for 1 06 unregistered locations. We 
took regulatory action against 21  beekeepers. Fines were given against 1 0  beekeepers 
and 9 of those were for unregistered locations at $1 50 each and one fine for $250 for no 
landowner permission. This is the first enforcement and penalties in the apiary program. 

Representative Craig Headland : Can you give an idea if these are from in state or out of 
state apiaries? 

Carrie Larson: I don't have that information in front of me. 
We had a big decrease in complaints from 201 3 to 2014 .  We had 59 complaints in 20 1 3  
and only 24 complaints in 20 14 .  That is a 40% drop. It is a variety of complaints from in 
state and out of state. 

Representative Craig Head land : I have a concern as a farmer that does a lot of spraying. 
If I am not aware of a hive that is located on my property illegally and I accidentally kill the 
bees, I am liable. That scares me and we need to do something. Requiring the location 
with some type of written contract would give us some grounds. You said Legislative 
Council advised that language be taken out of the bill? 

Carrie Larson: We discussed with them that the forms have become problematic over the 
years because they are not up to date. When we worked with the council, we put the 
language in that just stated consent was needed and not written consent. 

Representative Craig Head land : Why would the agriculture department even have to 
have knowledge of a written agreement between a landowner and an apiary? If trouble 
arose, the landowner would have something in writing. 

Tom Bodine, N D  Agricu lture Department: Through the authority given in the conditions 
and licensing, it gives us the ability to penalize a beekeeper who just dumps hives. The 
Agriculture Department hasn't been enforcing this area. In 20 1 3  we stepped up 
communication between all parties involved. Our obligation is to make sure all people are 
obeying the law. 
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Representative Diane Larson: You could have bees placed on your property without your 
knowledge. Then if you destroy them you are liable? 

Tom Bodine: It is a trespass situation. It doesn't give that landowner the ability to damage 
that property. The landowner should notify us and then we can address that. Spraying is 
one of those issues when bees are harvesting in the area. Language on the pesticide label 
says you cannot spray when bees are in the area. We are updating our mapping system. 
Registered locations show up on the map but it doesn't show which locations are active 
with bees present. That is why communication between the applicator and beekeeper is 
needed. 

Representative Jessica Haak: How long does it take the Agriculture Deparment to deal 
with a trespass situation? 

Tom Bodine: We try to be as quick as possible. We have one staff person for the apiary 
program and two part-time inspectors. 

Representative Jessica Haak: How much time? 

Tom Bod ine :  1 -2 days. 

Representative Alan Fehr: Back to the issue of signing forms--farmers are leery of 
signing forms. Do you have any other thoughts on how to handle this? 

Tom Bodine: This change just says consent--verbal or written. 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: What about an absentee landowner where the lessee has 
given permission? 

Tom Bod ine: The old law did give the ability for the lessee to make an agreement with a 
beekeeper. It is up to the landowner to decide so this language has landowner consent not 
the lessee. To improve communication we have developed a pollinator plan to 
communicate between the landowner and the lessee for the best location. 

Marcia Gifford, Beekeeper: We talk to the renter and the landowner to get permission. 
We have the landowner take us out and show us the new locations. 

The issue of having the bees out of state by a certain date would be difficult because there 
are so many variables such as weather, etc. If it is a good year, the bees may still be 
making honey in September. 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: Some of the concerns we hear is they don't have water. 
Then they move to the farmyards. 

Marcia G ifford : In the fall we will set feed out for the bees with sugar and water. We have 
feeders inside the hives. We want them to be fed to make the two days shipping. 
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Representative Craig Headland: Have you ever had bees killed by an applicator? 

Marcia G ifford : No. 

As for landowners signing, we have a lot of landowners that don't want to sign but will give 
us permission. We still register the yards. 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: Why? 

Marcia G ifford : They want to keep their business to themselves. In Louisiana the 
landowner will draw up a contract between us but it is not a state issued form. They have it 
notarized and then it is a legal document. 

Representative Craig Head land : Have you ever been reported to the Agriculture 
Commissioner's office? 

Marcia G ifford : We unloaded at night and put the bees on the wrong side of the section 
line. A day later we got a call from the landowner. We moved them the next night. 

Representative Craig Head land : What about a call from the Agriculture Department? 

Marcia Gifford : No. We want to keep the landowner happy. 

Representative Jessica Haak: What do other states require of landowners for 
permission? 

Marcia G ifford : In Louisiana we don't sign a form to register the yard. The yard has to be 
state issue approved. The reason is fire ants. We have to spray the loading yard for fire 
ants so we are not transporting them. We get a beekeeper's license just like in North 
Dakota. 

Representative Diane Larson: You use the same landowners regularly. Has someone 
else puts hives on the same land without permission? Are there a certain number of bees 
per property that seems to be ideal? 

Marcia G ifford : You go by the crop and water source. Others move across the road from 
us. A bee will travel up to three miles for its flower source to make honey. 

Representative Diane Larson: Have you had to complain against another beekeeper? 

Marcia Gifford : We call them and ask if they saw our bees. 

Representative Dwight Kiefert: What is the process when a farmer is going to spray? 
Should the hives be moved? 

Marcia G ifford : The time frame of the call is important. We move bees at night. We ask 
that they spray early in the morning so the bees are not flying. We need 24 hours to move 
the bees. 
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Terry Weckerly, N D  Grain Growers Association: (Attachment #3) 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: You want written permission on your land. If you are renting 
land, it is between the landlord and the beekeeper. 

(54) 
Terry Weckerly: My rental contracts are going to state to my landlords that I have control 
of the bees going on their land. I am assuming liability. Written permission is a double 
check of the system. 

Representative Craig Headland : How many crops do you grow that you need bees for 
pollination? 

Terry Weckerly: We don't need bees. They are all self-pollinating crops. With canola and 
sunflowers they claim you get better yields. There are studies being done that they are all 
self-pollinating crops. 

Representative Craig Head land : That is the point that beekeepers need to hear. 

Terry Weckerly: We allow the beekeepers to be there at no charge. They give honey for 
a gesture of payment. Yet we have to be liable for them and spray around them. 

Vice Chair Wayne Trottier: When you get bees without permission, do you call the 
Agriculture Department? 

Terry Weckerly: I called them directly . I don't think I will keep doing that. The friendliness 
is wearing off. 

Vice Chair Wayne Trottier: The Agriculture Department will get on it in a day or two. 

Terry Weckerly: I will try the Agriculture Department the next time. There has to be teeth 
and accountability. That is why we want written permission on a yearly basis. 

Representative Alan Fehr: We have talked about the fact that they don't know whose 
hives they are. Under this bill they will have large letters and identification. Has one of the 
issues been they don't know who they are? 

Terry Weckerly: It has been an issue in the past. You drive up to a colony. Some had a 
name stamped on the box with no phone number or address. Every third box had a 
different name. What is in this bill with the signage will be a great help. Back in the 80s the 
bee people were a lot more respectful. We would call the beekeeper and they would net 
them at night. Now I have been told of people calling the beekeepers and they say just 
spray anyway. 
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( 1  : 03) 
Gary Knutson: ND Agriculture Association: Two key components of this bill : 
1 .  We need better communication. We don't want to be a hindrance to the bee population 

or the soybean crop. 
2 .  There needs to be verifiable consent. 

Kristie Jo Sundeen, Northland Crop Consulting Service: (Attachment #4) 
In support with changes to the bill. 

I think it has to be written permission. Technology allows us to get this done. If every year 
is too hard in terms of paperwork, then do it every three years. 

The placard should be placed at the entrance to an apiary especially if they are hidden 
between tree rows. There are many complaints in northeastern North Dakota due to the 
large concentration of bees. That is because of a large amount of canola grown. The 
honey industry claims that their bees are providing a service to the canola growers. The 
canola grown in ND is a hybrid which is self-pollinating. Increase in yields also has not 
been proven. 

( 1 : 1 3 : 1 4) 
Chairman Dennis Johnson: Has it gotten better in the last years? 

Kristie Sundeen: It has gotten better since 20 1 3 . They sent out warnings. I don't get a 
warning if I spray something wrong. The fine for $ 1 50 for an unregistered apiary, $250 for 
not having permission--1 go to Minnesota and I pay that for speeding. You need to have a 
dollar value fine that will deter what is happening. 

According to EPA labeling I cannot spray when a bee is out there. I have to follow rules. It 
needs to be the same both ways. Enforcement has to be harsh so they will start paying 
attention. They are not following the rules. 

Representative Cynthia Schreiber Beck: Years ago there was rule in place that apiaries 
couldn't be within two miles of each other. Would that be effective? 

Kristie S undeen: I would like it, but a beekeeper wouldn't. I am allergic to bees. I have 
changed how I do business. If I know an apiary is there, I work there in the morning. 
Just enforce what we currently have. We have new out-of-state beekeepers moving into 
our area because of the canola. They get great honey off of canola. 

Bonnie Woodworth : (Attachment #5) 
Testimony provided--not in attendance 

Dustin McGregor, Farmer from Walsh , Cavalier, Ramsey Counties area: 
(Attachment #6) 



House Agricu lture Committee 
SB 2025 
March 1 9, 201 5 
Page 7 

(1 :25) 
Representative Jessica Haak: What do you think is a reasonable fine for an unregistered 
apiary? 

Dustin McGregor:  Several thousand dollars. They should know the law. 

Shauna Schneider, Farmer from Wales, ND:  (Attachment #7) 
The reason for the reduction in complaints is that people have given up complaining. 
In our area they are moving bees in the daytime and leaving bees behind with nowhere to 
go. In the law for SB2025 it is a 14-day process before the hives will be removed. 

Landowners don't want to sign for permission because there is no end date. They don't 
want to be held forever to the permission sheet. 

(1 :34) 
Opposition: 

Kevin Herrmann, Beulah, N D :  (Attachment #8) 

(1 :40) 
Neutral : 

Tom Bod ine, N D  Agriculture Department: We brought our penalty matrix. 
(Attachment #9) Under current law this is our guide. 

Representative Craig Headland : Is a $10,000 fine a fair number to start with penalizing 
an apiary for not having the proper paperwork? 

Tom Bodine : It is up to the committee to decide the fee. Testimony today has said the 
Agriculture Department wasn't responsive. We are changing how we are enforcing this 
section. In 2013 we addressed a letter to township officers, county commissioners, and to 
every beekeeper. 

We did give warnings the first year because enforcement was lacking in the past. Every 
violation a beekeeper has is retained. Our records retention is five years. Every violation 
gets a stepped up mark. There are many transactions for a beekeeper so the fine could 
add up to the $10,000 range. 

I do agree it is our job and responsibility to enforce the law. 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: We have a hot spot in northeastern North Dakota. Are you 
short of staff to enforce the situation? Can you handle it if we are more aggressive? 

Tom Bod ine : We have asked for enhancement in our budget to add more surveillance. 
have been in Cavalier County twice with our bee inspector. Our temporary staff has also 
been in the area. 
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The biggest thing is communication. We need to look at having a meeting when the 
beekeepers come back in the area. If there is a lack of agreement, then we step in and 
hold people accountable. 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: Will the beekeepers attend the meeting? Or are there a 
group of beekeepers that don't come to the meeting that are the outlaws? 

Tom Bod ine: They are willing to come in. The standardization of the placard will help us 
with enforcement. In the past when we got a nuisance report, we immediately contacted 
the Attorney General. It is a drawn out process. This bill gives a lot more authority to the 
department to act quicker and more responsive. 

Representative Diane Larson: For hunting, landowners post their land. What if 
landowners were to place signs for no hunting, trespassing, or apiaries? It is an extra 
burden on a landowner. Would that help? 

Tom Bod ine : Even without the trespass sign, they are breaking the law. 

The registration mapping will be updated. Every location has to be renewed every year. 
We start over every year. We are not grandfathering locations. 

Representative Joshua Boschee: In response to Representative Larson, it is very clear 
that this is about the bad actors. It comes down to the department. There are bad actors 
that are taking advantage of our people, our land, and our laws. We raise the fines but it 
comes back to the department whether you are going to respond and enforce it . We don't 
need to put more burden on the landowners. We need to put more burden on the bad 
actors. 

Tom Bod ine : I agree. It is our responsibility. 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: Closed the hearing. 
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M i n utes: 

Chairman Den nis Joh nson : We visited with the Agriculture Department on past history 
and the lack of laws enforced. They have new people on staff. They have been up in 
Cavalier County several times. They have a meeting scheduled in April at the experiment 
station. They will enforce the fines. If a farmer goes out in the morning to spray and there 
are hives there without permission, they can be fined and removed. 

The department would like this bill to stay the way it is without amendments. That would 
give them the opportunity to exercise the provisions they have in law now that haven't been 
utilized. If it doesn't work in two years, then make the changes. 

Vice Chair Wayne Trottier: They were asking for another chance to work hard on it and 
communicate. 

Representative Joshua Boschee :  We can fine people who have the contact information. 
What about those with no identification? Does the department have the ability to destroy 
the hives? 

Chairman Den n is Joh nso n :  We talked about written or oral permission. If they have no 
permission, they have to go. 

Vice Chair Wayne Trottier: They will dispose of them. Communication needs to be on 
both sides. If you have a cow running on your crops, there is someone to contact. If it is a 
deer hunter, you contact Game and Fish. It needs to get out there that if there is a problem 
with bees, you call the Agriculture Department. 
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Representative Alan Fehr: On page 4,  line 1 2 , Unidentified apiary, under subsection #2 
on line 22 it says "Seizure under this section may not occur until after the 61h day of the 
published notice." So this is not going to happen quickly. When we were talking about 
spraying when there are bees present, they cannot spray under federal law. In order to 
comply with federal law, the farmer is going have to wait before they can spray? Correct? 

Carrie Larson, N D  Agricu lture Department: If hives are unidentified, not registered, or 
not marked, our two inspectors are good at detective work. The good beekeepers will help 
us move them. 

Representative Fehr's question about spraying is correct. There are federal pesticide 
labels that have to be followed. That is a problem. That is why we try to get out there as 
soon as we can. 

Representative Diane Larson: If you own land and someone puts something on the land 
and is trespassing, the landowner is limited by what they can do. They need to be able to 
work on their farm for their livelihood. 

Carrie Larson: It is a definite concern. When an applicator wants to spray, they contact 
the beekeeper. There was a bill that was killed where the beekeeper would have to move 
the hives within 24 hours if an applicator asked them. That would have been against 
federal label laws. 

Representative Joshua Boschee: Would netting the hives be an option? We know how 
important a week can be when it comes to spraying. A week is the minimum, it could be 
longer. 

Carrie Larson : That is an option. Our pollinator plan does say for the beekeeper to 
move, net, or plug the hives. 

Representative Joshua Boschee: In the case of unidentified or unregistered, they have 
to wait seven days. Is there something our regulators can do to allow application of 
pesticides? 

Carrie Larson: That would work also. We would have to get a beekeeper to assist us in 
borrowing equipment to move the hives or netting them. 

Representative Alan Fehr: The other option has to do with having the penalty so high 
that it is a deterrent from having unmarked colonies. Page 6 ,  line 9 under the penalties. 
There are two possible penalties. One is a Class A misdemeanor and the second is a civil 
penalty up to $5 , 000 per violation. Is that enough of a penalty? $5 ,000 seems like a 
minimal slap on the wrist compared to the inconvenience for the producer. 

Carrie Larson: To this day we haven't heard of anyone that had to wait to spray. If we 
can't find them, how can we fine them? 
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Representative Alan Fehr: The deterrent for the few bad actors is perhaps they wouldn't 
even come to North Dakota. 

Carrie Larson: Do they even know about our laws in North Dakota? 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: You have a good relationship with the good actors? 

Carrie Larson: Yes. They are the ones that help us. 

A meeting has been scheduled in Cavalier County in early April. 

Representative Craig Head land : The $5 fee for licensing. It costs more to get a driver's 
license. Would the department object to increasing the fee? 

Carrie Larson: That would be a question for our deputy. There are other fees also that 
have not been increased. We are the second least expensive in the county for many 
programs. 

Representative Craig Head land : What is the penalty for not paying the five dollars? 

Carrie Larson: It is on the penalty guidelines handed out yesterday. They pay the $5 
l icense fee plus 1 5  cents per colony and they also pay into the honey assessment. 
Depending on the size of the beekeeper it does add up. 

Vice Chair Wayne Trottier: Moved Do Pass. 

Representative Alex Looysen: Seconded the motion 

Representative Jessica Haak: Was written consent discussed when talking to the 
department? 

Chairman Dennis Johnson: It can be an issue with the landlord and the renter. It is 
something the department doesn't require. It is between the farmer and the honey 
producer. If there is no consent, written or oral, the bees have to go. 

Representative Alan Fehr: I am going to resist the motion. I don't think this bill is in the 
place where it needs to be. The maximum civil penalty for $1 , 000 is not enough for not 
being licensed. 

A Rol l  Cal l vote was taken: Yes .JL, No 2 , Absent 2 

Do Pass carries. 

Representative Bert Anderson will carry the bill. 
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Although the interim committee worked extensively with the ag department staff to address many of 
the issues in this chapter, there are a few issues that sti l l  remain and will require some additional 
consideration from this committee. There are also a few bee related issues that have come up in 
recent weeks and those too will certainly impact various provisions in  this chapter. 

Section 1 is a cross-reference reconcil iation. Because this bill is proposing the repeal of the current 
bee chapter and the adoption of a new bee chapter, section numbers are being changed and we need 
to ensure that other chapters of the code, which currently reference the old law, would actually be 
referencing the new law. 

Toward the bottom of the first page, you will see the definitions. We removed a number of definitions 
because if the terms aren't used in the chapter, they do not need to be defined. 

One of the things that the interim committee did do is to define a colony and a hive properly. Those 
terms seem to be used interchangeably and sometimes incorrectly. 
A colony is a familial group of adult bees consisting of drones, workers, and a queen. A hive is the 
structure that houses a colony. 

On Page 2, beginning on line 4, the bill addresses beekeeper l icenses. 
Current law has a provision that states the person must be licensed by March first. Current law does 
not, however, indicate what happens on March second. 

The interim committee treated this l ike fishing licenses. You do not need one before opening day, but 
you do need one before you start to fish. The same thing was done last interim when your colleagues 
dealt with livestock dealer l icenses. 

Page 2, Line 14 -- The rewrite maintains the requirement that if a minor elects to be a beekeeper, the 
minor's parent must sign the appl ication. Current law references the minor's mother, father, or legal 
guardian. By referencing a "parent," the bill does not preclude a legal guardian from signing the 
application. A legal guardian is recognized as functioning "in loco parentis" - in the place of a parent. 
Both designations (parents and legal guardians) are not needed. However, if Junior goes to l ive with 
Aunt Mary for the summer, and she does not have a legal guardianship status, she cannot sign the 
appl ication for Junior's beekeeping license. 

Page 2, line 20 -- Like current law, a beekeeper's license is not transferable. 

As for subsection 2 -- on line 22 -- This is new. Current law does not indicate exactly when 
beekeeping l icenses expire. This clarifies that it is December 315\ 

I n  other words, a new l icense is needed each year. 



Page 2, Line 23 -- Under current law, a l icense can be denied if the appl icant is found guilty of 
repeated violations of the chapter or rules, or if the person has failed to pay an adjudicated civil 
penalty. Those concepts remain. 

2 

Under current law, if a person provides false or misleading information in connection with any 
appl ication or notification required by the chapter, that person is subject to the penalties provided for 
in the chapter -- i .e. a Class A misdemeanor {1 yr/$3000) and/or a $5000 civil penalty. 

The committee opted to include the provision of false or misleading information on an application, or 
a required report, as a ground for license denial. 

Page 2, Line 30 -- License fees continue as they are currently -- i.e. at $5 

Page 3, Line 1 -- Colony assessments continue as they are currently -- i .e. at 15 cents per colony 

Page 3, Line 5 -- This is the apiary notification section. Under current law, a beekeeper is required to 
" register" all apiaries with the commissioner. However, under current law, there is no minimum 
distance -- no "do not compete" provisions. 

So, in effect, all that the beekeepers are statutorily doing is telling the commissioner where their 
apiaries will be placed. i.e. They are "notifying" the commissioner. In the interest of modernizing this 
section, beekeepers can provide the commissioner with GPS coordinates and they can provide the 
notification electronical ly. 

This section does not i nclude the current requirement that a beekeeper provide a copy of a written 
lease or other document from the property owner granting the beekeeper permission to maintain an 
apiary at that location. Current law a lso provides that once such a document is submitted, it is 
effective for subsequent registrations. 

The interim committee determined that the ag department staff are in no position to determine the 
validity of such documents, whether the signatories actually have the proper authority, or whether 
the ownership of the land has changed since a document was first fi led. 

Very simply, if a beekeeper wants to put an apiary on certain  land, that is a private matter between 
the beekeeper and the owner or occupier of the land. 

Page 3, l ine 17 -- Apiary identification. This section is a work in  progress. The interim conversation 
began with the articulation of a problem. Not all beekeepers were identifying their apiaries as 
required - which is by means of a board or weather proof placard at or near the main entrance to an 
apiary or on a hive. Placards would blow away or grass would grow up and the placards were not 
visible. In addition, the requirement that the letters be at least Y2 an inch required people to get 
uncomfortably close to the business end of an apiary before being able to d iscern a phone number. 

So, it was suggested that the beekeepers l iterally spray paint their three digit l icense number on a 
hive. The number must be in a color that contrasts with that of the hive and it must be at least three 
i nches high. 
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At the last interim committee meeting some beekeepers testified that they thought everybody should 
identify their apiaries by means of the current placard. So, that was reinserted in  the bil l  as option B. 

If an apiary is not identified, and if after making reasonable efforts to identify the responsible 
beekeeper, no name pops up, the commissioner can publish a notice in  the official newspaper 
indicating that if the responsible party does not appear to claim their property and pay costs, the 
property will be seized and destroyed or sold at auction. This concept is included on page 4, Line 6. 

The problem is, of course, if bees are on your land, and they should not be there, you do not want to 
wait for at least a week after publication, and then however long thereafter it takes for arrangements 
to be made so that someone will actually come and get the bees. 

The ensuing section, on Page 4, line 17 is the confiscation section. If bees are being transported or 
maintained in  violation of this chapter, they can be confiscated. The Ag Commissioner or the law 
enforcement officer then has to get a court order or an administrative order regarding the disposition 
of the property. Again, there are some practical issues with this as wel l .  (Seizure involves the act of 

taking. Confiscation involves the act of not returning property as a form of punishment.) 

On Page 4, l ine 23, you will see various powers and duties referencing the Ag Commissioner. 
U nder the current statute, those are given to the state bee inspector. U nder current law, there are 
several references to the Ag Commissioner having to do certain things at the d irection of the bee 
inspector. So, it was suggested that this would be a good time to clarify the chapter. 

The commissioner is in  charge of and responsible for the administration of this chapter. He can 
delegate those duties, just as he does other duties that he has been assigned. 

In this particular section, the Ag Commissioner is given two powers. The fi rst involves assisting 
farmers in identifying beekeepers who provide pollination services. Current law words that rather 
awkwardly, but this is the intent. 

Subsection 2 is a change. Current law provides that if the bee inspector or a deputy i nspector receives 
a complaint from a beekeeper, an aerial sprayer, or a farmer, the inspector may enter private 
property during reasonable hours to make an external inspection for the purpose of identifying a 
colony. The problem was twofold: 
What if the complaint is filed by someone other than one of the 3 listed parties? 
What if the commissioner needs to enter the property in order to enforce this chapter? 

In the rewrite, the interim committee authorized the AG Commissioner to enter upon private land 
during daylight hours for the purpose of enforcing the chapter - regardless of who complained. 

The bill, however, requires the Commissioner to first make a good faith effort to notify the owner of 
the land or a lessee regarding the entry. 

Page 4, Line 29 This is an inspection section. At the request of a beekeeper, the commissioner shall  
inspect an apiary for the purpose of issuing a certificate of inspection or providing other official 
documentation or val idation. No charge is made for this inspection. 



The next section, at the top of page 5, is an unofficial inspection section. If a beekeeper would l ike to 
have someone come out for any reason other than an official inspection - such as perhaps for a 
"consultation," the commissioner may provide the inspection and may charge a fee to cover any 
attendant costs. 

Page 5, l ine 7 -- Current law has a rather d iscombobulated section on what ought to happen in the 
event that Africanized bees are identified. It addresses migration and periods within which colonies 
can and cannot be moved. 

What Ag Department personnel said they really needed was the abil ity to impose a quarantine, 
whether that be for Africanized bees or to control the spread of disease, etc. 
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Under normal circumstances, in order for a quarantine to be issued, there must be a notice and a 
hearing and if there is an order, it must state the date by which or the circumstances under which the 

quarantine will be l ifted. If there is an emergency, the Commissioner may order a quarantine and then 
within  14 days, he must go through the standard notice, hearing, and order procedure that I just 
described. 

At the bottom of Page 5, you' l l  see a section entitled service of process. This too is in current law and 
al lows the commissioner to accept service of process in the event that neither a beekeeper nor his 
registered agent can be found. 

At the top of Page 6, there is the penalty section. The penalties are the same as current law, which is 
a class A misdemeanor (1 yr/$3000) or a $5000 civil fine. These are maximum amounts. 

There is one change, however. Current law provides that a person may be guilty of a class A 
misdemeanor for violation this chapter or rules adopted under the chapter. The Legislative Assembly 
has been very reluctant to a l low the imposition of a criminal penalty for a rules violation. 

In this case, the apiary division has only minimal rules and rules have not been issued or amended 
since 1992. But, one does not know what future rules might address. 

So, rather than commit the Legislative Assembly to a criminal penalty for a yet to be defined act or 
omission, the language was crafted to provide that there may be a criminal penalty for violating the 
chapter, but not for violating a rule. If an activity is worthy of a criminal penalty, it is suggested that 
the commissioner should place a bil l  before the Legislative Assembly. 

Page 6, Line 10 -- Current law contains a simple little sentence that has a lot of potential 
repercussions. It states: "The agriculture commissioner may cancel a registration . • .  when the bees 
located on the apiary site are causing a nuisance, as defined in chapter 42-01." 

First of al l, when the rewrite on page 3 referenced a notification rather than registration, this section 
lost its application, because we don't have a registration. 

Let me make a few comments about the current language, in light of ongoing discussions about bees 
and apiary placements. 
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For those who are concerned about bees being a nuisance, a simple sentence authorizing the Ag 
Commissioner to cancel a registration looks like it might be the answer. However, there is no 
reference to a hearing - or any form of due process for the beekeeper. The definition of a nuisance in 
and of itself has room for debate and disagreement. 

Go back to that original sentence: "The commissioner may cancel a registration ... when the bees 
located on the apiary site are causing a nuisance." 

What if the beekeeper owns the property on which he has placed his hives? What if he has a 
pollination contract? What if the person from whom he rents won't let him re-situate the apiary? 
The questions go on and on. 

This section is now drafted in a fashion that addresses some of those concerns. Whether or not it 
should be maintained in the statute will be a decision for this committee. 

If someone has an issue with the location of an apiary, that individual can petition the commissioner 
for an order requiring a relocation. However, that individual has to reside on land contiguous to that 
on which the beekeeper has placed an apiary. This is not to be a venue for people who live far away 
and just don't like bees or beekeeping. 

Secondly, that individual's health or welfare must be endangered by the apiary's location. This is not 
to be a venue for people who don't like bees on their windshields. 

If the commissioner receives a petition, he may provide notice and schedule a hearing. This provides 
everyone with an opportunity to bring forth testimony and documentary evidence. 

Here are the parameters for the commissioner. He has to determine that any threat to the individual's 
health or welfare would be eliminated or significantly mitigated through the relocation of 
the apiary. A relocation is not to be ordered on a whim - but only if it could truly make a 
difference to the individual's health or welfare. 

The commissioner may order a relocation. However, he cannot entirely prohibit the beekeeper from 
having bees on land that the beekeeper owns, that the beekeeper leases, or that the 
beekeeper uses with permission. This last category includes the informal arrangements e.g. 
You can keep bees on my land -- just give me so much honey at the end of the season. 

Since we are talking about people's livelihoods, the commissioner cannot require that the beekeeper 
remove the apiary from its current location, if the removal would negatively affect the level 
of honey production reasonably anticipated from the current location. 

The commissioner cannot require that the beekeeper remove the apiary from its current location, if 
the land's owner or lessee does not agree to a relocation of the apiary. The agreement 
between a beekeeper and a landowner might specify a particular area. The landowner 
might not want bees elsewhere on his property. 
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If al l  these pieces fal l  into place, and if there is a cost to moving the apiary, the commissioner can 
direct that the petitioner pay some or al l  of those costs. We inserted this provision because 
the beekeeper wasn't doing anything wrong when he first situated the apiary. 

Once the commissioner issues an order under this section, that order is not appealable. An order 
under this section expires on December thirty-first. This is seasonal. It is not a prohibition 
that goes with the land. 

Finally, if a beekeeper relocates an apiary in  accordance with this section, the commissioner may not, 
during that same calendar year, consider any additional petition regarding the relocated 
apiary. The original petitioner can't say - Well, I don't l ike that second spot either. 
Someone living on the other side of the apiary can't then file another petition. 

Just to make things even more complicated, current law states that the agriculture commissioner may 
cancel a registration . . .  when the bees located on the apiary site are causing a nuisance, as 
defined in chapter 42-01. Chapter 42-01 has been around since World War I. 

However, later passed legislation provides that an agricultural operation is not, nor shal l it become, a 
private or public nuisance by any changed conditions in or about the loca lity of such 
operation after it has been in operation for more than one year, if such operation was not a 
nuisance at the time the operation began. That's been on the books since 1981. 

Bee keeping is included in  the definition of an agricultural operation under that provision. 

Then, there is the Constitutional Measure - Section 29 of Article XI, which forever guarantees the 
right of farmers to engage in  modern farming and ranching practices. We are sti l l  not sure 
what that means or if it would have any impact here. 

Again, al lowing the commissioner to cancel a registration . • •  when the bees located on the apiary site 
are causing a nuisance is a simple little concept that may sound fine initial ly. However, when one 
starts to look at what the words real ly mean, and how this would operate, one bumps up against 
property rights, economic rights, matters of due process, etc. 

That brings us to one other little provision that is currently in the law, but was not carried forward in 
this bil l . 

Current section 4-12.2-25 states that beekeeping is an "agricultural enterprise for al l  purposes under 
the laws of this state." That provision was inserted in 1983 as part of an interim effort, and we could 
not find one word indicating why. The concern with the verbiage is that we don't know what it 
means. We don't know what rights, duties, or obligations it triggers. 

One person may want to use the verbiage to assure a county zoning board that beekeeping is 
agriculture and needs to be treated special ly. Another may find that his son's 4H hive has suddenly 
turned residential property into an agricultural use and thereby created a violation. We don't know if 
there are tax implications, environmental implications, loan implications, l iabil ity and insurance issues 
We just don't know. 

The hope during the interim was that if people could articulate why this verbiage is necessary, 
perhaps one could have a more precise statement inserted. 
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With that Mr. Chairman, I 'm happy to present this bil l  to you, on behalf of the interim committee, and 
to continue working with you in order to address any remaining issues. 
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Chairman Miller and members of the Senate Agriculture Committee, I am Samantha Brunner, 

State Apiary Inspector for the North Dakota Department of Agriculture (NDDA) here 

representing Agriculture Commissioner Doug Goehring. I am here today in support of SB 2025 , 

which will update and bring clarification to the beekeeping law . 

The NDDA regulates all beekeepers in the state through licensing and registration of beekeepers 

and apiary (hive) locations. 

Currently under NDCC §4- 1 2 .2-07 in order to register an apiary location the beekeeper must 

submit a document with NDDA signed by both the beekeeper and the landowner or lessee. In 

20 1 4  over 1 2,000 locations were registered in the state. The proposed language in SB 2025 

removes the requirement of signed landowner forms, but still requires the beekeeper to provide 

the name of the landowner or lessee to the department when notifying us of locations. Removing 

the landowner forms will allow the department to have a more current, accurate list of registered 

locations. This change will allow the department to create a more accurate map that may be used 

by pesticide applicators to locate apiaries. Furthermore, the updated information will allow 
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beekeepers to communicate back to the department and provides NDDA with updated landowner 

and lessee information to help improve communication between beekeepers, applicators, and 

citizens. 

The proposed language of adding a North Dakota beekeeper number as part of the identification 

on the hives would standardize identification across the state. The department receives many 

calls each summer from people trying to identify hives. This number will be printed much larger 

than they are able to print their contact information in, and it would stand out against all of the 

other information that can be found on hives. 

Currently, inspections are conducted at the request of the beekeeper for the purpose of issuing a 

certificate of health to aid in interstate movement of bees. Under proposed legislation this 

certificate of inspection would stil l  be issued. However, if a beekeeper requests an inspection for 

purposes other than interstate movement of bees, the law would allow us to charge that 

beekeeper a fee for the inspection. 

Africanized bees were a big topic the last time the beekeeping law underwent major changes, 

resulting in an extensive section on Africanized bees; however there was no way to protect the 

industry from any other potential threat. Legislative Council added a quarantine section to SB 

2025 .  This quarantine will al low the Department to establish restrictions that best fit the pest of 

concern whether it is Africanized bees, a parasite, or other threat. 

Under NDCC §4- 1 2 .2 beekeepers were required to obtain an entrance permit prior to March 1 51• 

If a beekeeper did not obtain one prior to that date, they would not be allowed to bring bees into 
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the state for 60 days after receiving a permit. NDDA asked to have this section removed because 

there doesn't seem to be a realistic, feasible way to enforce this requirement. 

NDDA worked extensively with the Interim Agriculture Committee and with Legislative 

Council on this bill and thanks the committee for their hard work and attention to this rewrite. 

There are stil l  areas of the bill that we feel need further discussion. 

• §4. 1- 16-07 Apiary Location-N otification 

• §4. 1- 16-09 I dentification of a n  ap iary 

• §4. 1-16-13 Agriculture com m issioner- I nspection of an Apiary -Issu ance of certificate 

• §4. 1- 16-18 Relocation of a n  ap iary-Petit ion-Hearing 

Chairman Miller, NDDA has visited with Legislative Council to discuss proposed amendments 

to ensure the apiary law meets the industry' s  needs. Commissioner Goehring looks forward to 

working with Legislative Council and the committee to address areas of concern with this bill 

while defining and carrying out the commissioner' s authority. 

Chairman Miller and committee members, thank you for your time, I urge a do pass on SB 2025.  

I would be happy to answer any questions you may have. 
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Testimony Before the Senate Agriculture Committee 

On 

SB 2025 Related to Apiaries and Beekeeping 

Dustin McGregor, Fairdale 
Good morn ing Com m ittee Members. Thank you for a l lowing u s  to speak to you today. 

My n a m e  is D u st i n  M cG regor from Fairda le, ND and my parents a n d  I operate a fou rt h  

generation fa rm located where the corners o f  Walsh, Cava l ier, a n d  R am sey cou nties m eet. I a m  

h e re representing a gro u p  o f  fa rm ers from that a rea regard ing the l a c k  o f  enforcement o f  laws 

cu rrently o n  the books i n  N o rth Dakota regard ing honey bee farming a n d  t h e  overpopu lation of 

bees in m a n y  a reas .  If you a re not from a m ajor canola growing a rea, you may be u naware of 

t h e  safety iss u es some i n d ivid u a ls a re facing. From the outset I want you to u nderstand we a re 

not h e re to t ry to e l i m i nate or red u ce the prod uction of honey i n  o u r  state, but  to encourage 

you r  com m ittee to redefi n e  laws regulating honey bees in  order that we may all coexist i n  

h a rmony.  

We rea l ize that staff mem bers of the Dept.  of Agricu ltu re can only  enforce laws and 

regu lations t h at a re passed by the North Dakota Legislature .  Th e Dept.  of Ag tel ls  us they do 

n ot have t h e  funds to h i re the m a n power to do so.  We strongly reco m m en d  that the Dept. of  

Ag b e  a pp ro p riated fu nds  to h i re at least one, preferably two, a d d it iona l  seasonal  workers per 

year.  

As a voti n g  cit izen of N o rth Dakota it feels  as if the beekeeper and h is/her  bus i ness h as 

more rights t h a n  a person who i s  tryi ng to p rotect the safety of h imself/herself, h is/her  fa mi ly 

and n e igh bors .  An exa m p le being:  If  a beekeeper places an a p i a ry on a p iece of land without 

perm ission a n d  an i n d ivid u a l  wants/needs to obta i n  that beekeeper's information, that 

i n d ivid u a l  now has to trespass onto that property to fi nd the i nform ation on the h ives because 

there i s  not a law stating the sign age should be at the point of entry of the property. Now if the 

person lookin g  for t h e  i nformation gets stu ng and has an a l lergic reaction a n d  d i es, the 
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p ro perty own er is l i a b l e  n ot the beekeeper even though the beekeeper b roke the law by not 

h aving perm ission to h ave the bees on that property. 

This s u m m e r  a gro u p  of us from the area had a meeting with a Dept. of Ag 

rep resentative showi ng h im/her t h e  amount of bees being p l aced at a p i a ries. Most ap iaries 

conta ined an u n reaso n a b l e  amount of bees. We a lso showed this e m p loyee that 40-50% of the 

a p i a ries i n  our a rea were u n registered - breaking the state law. Beings there a re many 

violators, I do th ink  t h at a n  i ncrease i n  fi nes or  ha rsher  pen alties a re with in  reason for those 

violators.  

Revis ions of the cu rrent law d rafted in  October 2014, e l im i n ate t h e  req u i rement for 

honey bee fa rme rs to get signed leases from farmers who own t h e  land where they p lace their  

h ives. We strongly oppose the e l i m in ation of this req u i rement.  We strongly reco m m e n d  that 

leases be obtained, s igned a n d  fi led not only  for the landowner, b ut a lso for t h e  renter of the 

land if the owner a n d  i n d ivid u a l  fa rming said land is  not the sa m e  person.  We a s  landowners 

a re paying taxes on o u r  l a n d .  Therefore, we should h ave the right to deny or a l low other 

i n d ividu a ls on our land.  Without th is  written permission,  where is  t h e  p roof? This on ly makes 

sense a s  we a s  fa rmers/renters a re req u i red to do so and p resent copies of o u r  leases to the 

FSA. This not o n ly makes sense, but should be used as a m ethod for overseeing a n d  regu lating. 

Also the Octob e r  2014 d raft states that if a honey bee fa rmer is req u i red to move h i s  

h ive t o  another  location for whatever reason, t h e  own er/renter o f  the l a n d  at the origi na l  

location should  be l i a b l e  for expenses a n d  t ime used as a result of th is  m ove. We strongly 

o bject to th is  req u irement.  The m ajority of the time for th is  req u i red move is  the resu lt of the 

h ives h aving been p laced where they should not have been in  t h e  first p lace. 

M a n y  t i mes d u ri n g  the past two sum mers my wife and I were not ab le  to be in  our yard 

because of the concentration of bees present d u e  to a l l  the nea rby a p i a ries.  It's sad to tel l  a 

c h i ld he/she can not go outside to p lay. Two m i les in d ifferent d i rections from m y  house you 

ca n fin d  seven ap iaries ! Years ago I d id  not h ave m uch of a p roblem b ut the n u mber of sites 

h as risen and the n u m ber of bees at each site is  out of control to the point where it's not safe. 

The overpop u lation of bees and the issue of location of bees too close to fa rmsteads and roads 
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has  resu lted i n  farmers being u nab le  to work in their  yards. I n  the fie lds  farmers a re constantly 

stu ng when they get out of their equ ipment cabs to work on e q u i p m ent or  p ut gra in  in  or take 

gra i n  out of the ir  b i n s .  There h ave been instances when service repa i r  perso n n e l  h ave refused 

to contin u e  working on equ i pment in  the fie lds because they a re gett ing stu ng whi le  doing so. 

I ch ecked with the Cava l ier  Cou nty M emoria l  Hospital a n d  a local p h a rm acy to see if 

they've seen an i n crease in bee st ings.  Between 2012 and 2014 CCM H's n u m ber of patients 

because of bees sti n gs ( inc ludes people who came to the hospital  24-72 hours post sting with 

concerns about swel l ing  or  i nfection and those a rriving the day of t h e  sting with concerns a bout 

a l l e rgic react ions)  has doubled .  The p harm acy has seen a 4% i ncrease i n  the n u mber of Ep iPens  

i ssued over the last two years.  

Regard i n g  t h e  overpopu lation of honey bees, I want to offer t h is exa m ple.  Farmer #1 

p l aces h ives i n  fou r  separate locations, probably at corners of a t h ree m i le sq u a re.  Th at is  good.  

Then Farmer #2 comes a long a n d  p laces four  separate groups of h ives i nterspersed with Farmer 

#l's  h ives. Lastly Farmer #3 shows u p  and p laces fou r  groups of h ives i nterm i ngled i n  between 

Farmer #1 a n d  #2's  h ives. We now h ave 12 sets of  h ives c lustered wit h i n  that t h ree m i le 

s q u a re.  If each gro u p  of h ives is a flat bed of 400 h ives, we now h ave 4800 h ives in that smal l  

a rea .  We p ro pose that a p lan  be devised whereby t h e  Dept. of  Ag has  a G PS com puter system 

t h at wi l l  be used to p i n point  the lega l description when the bee fa rmer registers h is  bees a n d  

that no more h ives b e  a l lowed t o  be located with in  a t  least a 2 Yi m i l e  a rea o f  a previously 

registered h ive. Bees usua l ly  f ly with i n  a rad ius  of th ree m i les. This wou ld e l i m i n ate the 

overflying of bees over the same a reas and help e l i m inate the serious overpop u lation of bees 

that our a rea cu rrently has. Th ere is a lot of land a ro u n d .  With some p l a n n i n g  th is  should not 

a dversely i m p act honey p rod u ctio n .  

I feel  that m a n y  issues cou l d  be pol iced by the beekeepers themselves and the Dept. of 

Ag, but  from the feed back I h ave received, the com pla int p rocess at t h e  Dept. of Ag is broken.  

After d iscussion at o n e  of o u r  meetings, the Dept.  of Ag does not h ave a p roper p roced u re in  

p l ace for docu ment ing com p l a i nts, resolvi ng issues, and provid ing feed back. How can there be 
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a record of a com pla int  when t h e  person you cal l  does not record t h e  com pl a i nt? I am looking 

forwa rd to h ear ing about a n ew a n d  i mproved process from the Dept. of Ag. 

Another law that seems u njust is if person A gives perm ission to a 

beekeeper to p lace bees o n  h is/her  p roperty. Th is perm ission is a l ifet ime a p p roval so if person 

A later decides to n ot h ave bees on h is/her property, he/sh e  isn't ab le  to get them removed.  

Also, th is  perm ission should  n ot pass on to a n ew landowner. 

We a lso h ave a n  issue with the p lacard ing of some h ives and the location of the p lacards 

a n d  the h ives. P lacards shou ld  be located on the entry of the road accessing the h ive and not 

right a dj a cent to the colony. Cu rrent letter siz ing a p pears to be adequate, but location is an 

issue.  Also h ives shou ld  h ave a certa in  setback from a l l  roads, not just paved cou nty and state 

h ighways. Another concern is  u n registered h ives. How does a person fi nd the beekeeper's 

information when h ives h ave no p lacard period? 

Rights of a resident versus rights of a beekeeper.  I have been to ld  by local pol iticia n s  

t h a t  a beekeeper has  the right t o  do what h e/she wants on p ro perty he/she owns. A s  a 

l a n downer o r  resident near  th is  land  with ap iaries on it, now I lose some of my rights because 

h e/she d ecided to h ave bees? For exa m ple, this beekeeper can h ave bees on this property near  

m y  resid ence which i n  turn not o n ly affects my q u a l ity of  l ife but restricts a fa rmer from 

spraying at certa in  t i m es.  The actions of one person n egative ly affect the other and currently 

there's noth ing the one i n d ividu a l  can do to remedy the situation .  

Trying to resolve t h e  issue of  ap iaries too close to  residences is  d ifficu lt .  There is  a 

proposal for a two m i l e  setback. Th e proposed two m i l e  ap iary setback from residences is  

m aybe not t h e  right way to go? If  a person has a com pla int about the bees affecting h is/her 

res idence there s h o u ld be a system of steps the Agricultural  Comm issioner m ust i m p l ement. It 

is  i m portant to keep everyon e  safe.  On the first com p la int the Dept.  of Ag should respond to 

the issue with in  48 h o u rs. The beekeeper must prove he/she is  m a i nt a i n i ng the site with water 

for the bees a n d  that the n u m be r  of bees is  not out of l i n e .  Seco n d  compla i nt, the beekeeper 

m u st cut the n u m ber of bees down at the location to hopefu l ly remedy the issue.  If  there are 

sti l l  problems, with t h e  t h i rd com pla int, the beekeeper shou l d  be responsib le for moving the 



bees whether h e/sh e  has  perm ission for the bees to be there or if h e/she owns that property. 

They m u st be removed no m atte r  what.  An ind ividu al's safety should  take p recedence. 

If the Ag Com m issioner determ in es there isn't a n  issue, b ut the people l iving n ear  the 

a p i a ries do feel  it is  sti l l  a safety concern, there should be an appeal  p rocess. This  process could  

i nc l u d e  gett ing  t h e  loca l  representat ives' opin ions beca use these i n d ivid ua ls  l ive i n  the area, 

represent the locals, and may h ave more insight into the p rob lem.  

I a lso attended a meet ing with the Dept. of  Ag early th is  winter i n  La ngdon, N D .  I shared a map 

of  western Walsh Cou nty, Cava l ier  County, a n d  northern Ramsey Cou nty showi ng a l l  the  

registered bee a p i a ries pr inted from the Dept. of  Ag's website. P lease keep i n  m i n d  that there 

were people stat ing nearly 50% of a p i a ries in their  a rea a re u n registere d .  

S p i n k  Cou nty in  South Dakota is  roughly the same s i z e  as Caval ier  

Cou nty in  N o rth Dakota- 1 , 5 10 sq u a re mi les.  Spink Cou nty has  76 registered a p i a ries accord ing 

to SD website. I n  Cava l ier  Cou nty I cou nted 284 registered a p i a ries. If  you double the nu mber 

(because poss i b ly o n ly ha lf  a re registered } it's m ore l ike 568.  That i s  7 . 5  t imes more than i n  the 

same size cou nty in  South Dakota.  Then if  you take 1,5 10 squ a re m i les d ivided by 568 that 

averages out to be one a p i a ry every 2.7 sq u a re mi les.  That's a lot of bees ! If  more beekeepers 

want to come to t h e  canola growing a reas of N o rth Dakota, there wi l l  be m ajor issues. I feel  

beekeepers should be cutt ing back their  n u m bers i n  this area . . .  not i ncreasing them. If South 

D a kota is  ab le  to regu late its n u mber  of bees, I'm sure North Da kota can figu re out a benefic ia l  

system a lso. 

Overa l l  I feel with every issue both p a rt ies a re su pposed to h ave 

e q u a l  rights. With the issues I h ave b rought to you r  attention it s u re doesn't seem that the 

cit izens, taxpayers, a n d  voters h ave the same rights as the beekeepers.  I 'm ask ing that  you 

p lease take the t i m e  to look i nto t h ese issues and put yourself in  the shoes of an in dividua l  

d e a l i n g  with overpo p u lat ions of  honey bees every sum mer. 



With a l l  this inform ation being addressed today, please contact 

me if you h ave any questions.  I was given short notice of this m eeting so I'm very thankful I was 

a ble to make it and I thank you for you r  time and support. 

Dustin McGregor 

;� ' 
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It has come to my attention that the I nterim Ag Committee and the Legislature are reviewing and 
possi b ly changing the Centu ry Code rega rd ing Apiaries/Beekeeping. After reading and reviewing severa l of 
the proposed changes, I have compiled a l ist of comments or opin ions that I wou ld l i ke to share. Before I share .  
these comments I would l i ke to tel l you a l ittle about myself. I am a crop consu ltant, mother, a n d  a farmer's 
wife. I own and operate my own business, North land Crop Consulting Service; i n Northeastern North Dakota 
and I a l so farm with my husband . In the fo l lowing letter I hope I expla in where my concerns l ie and possible 
comprom ises. 

In the legislation in regards to the Beekeeper's l icense there needs to be a start date for obtain i ng the 
license to min im ize paperwork in season . Cu rrent legislation states that the beekeeper must have their l icense 
on or before the first day of March in each year. The beekeepers l icense is obtained in one yea r increments. 
Some proposals had plans to remove a deadl ine date which leaves things open to interpretation .  The deadl ine 
keeps beekeepers up to date on their paperwork prior to the sta rt of their honey season in the state of North 
Dakota . A statement shou ld a lso be added that the l icense expires on December 31st. There was some 
mention of removing the deadl ine of March 1st because it was not addressed what would happen if they had 
not obtai ned their l i cense by this date. I bel ieve that if they don't have their l icense by March 1st then they 
can't practice beekeeping in the state of North Dakota for that year. Current legislation has the beekeepers 
l icense fee at $5. I bel ieve that the cost of doing busi ness warrants an increase of this dol lar amount. An 
increase to $25 would be reasonable. An example would be a Commercial pesticide l icense which costs over 
$80 every three years which wou ld be equ iva lent to around $25 per year. When submitting their appl ication 
fo r l icense, beekeepers are requ i red to submit the number of co lonies that wi l l  be mainta ined in this state. A 
fee of fifteen cents per co lony is also assessed at that t ime. I do have to wonder about the fee of fifteen cents 
per colony in that it cou ld be h igher. The Department of Agriculture should be looking at the cost of 
implementing the current regulations and determine if this number of fifteen cents per co lony is adequate. If 
the reason for lack of oversight in the apiary program is cost, then these fees need to be considered for a n  
increase. 

One of my biggest concerns with the possible rewrite to Centu ry Code Chapter 4-12.2 Beekeeping is 
the proposed changes to the 4"12.2-07. This section re lates to the Registration of an · Apia ry with the 
Department of Agricu lture. Cu rrent legislation states that each beekeeper s�a l l  register all apiaries that are or 
wi l l be ma intai ned by the beekeeper .within the state at the same. time an appl ication for a l icense is made. 
The beekeeper has to provide the lo�ation of each apiary to the nearest section, quarter section, township, 
and range. A possib le change that would be good is to also a l low location of apia rie� to be made by using 
sate l l ite navigation system coord inates. The beekeeper is a lso required to supply the name of the property 
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owner on whose property the apiary is located and a copy of the written lease or .other document from the 
property owner granting the appl icant permission .  A proposed change has a change in wording from 
Registration of an Apiary to Apiary lo�ation - Notification . It opens this up to ,the interpretation that this is a 
vo l unta ry program and not a requirement. Registration of apiaries is vita l to keeping the balance between 
beekeepers and growers. The apiary program, when fol lowed, a l lows farmers to .use. the program to notify 
beekeepers when they are spraying insecticides and fol low state/federal pesticide laws. 

Another proposed change was .the remova l of the requirement that the be'ekeeper supply a copy of 
the written lease or other document ·from the property owner granting the applicant permission to mainta in 

. . 



: . , ,  

. I 

an  apiary at that location. The remova l of this requirement would create more problems and exasperate 
current problems that a l ready exist in the apiary program .  When taking into consideration the number of 
apiaries that have been placed on private property without landowners consent in the past I cannot see how 
the Department of Agricu ltu re can't just take a beekeeper's word at having permission to place an apiary on 
another landowner's property. The reasoning given for the proposed remova l of th i s requirement is that the 
role of the commissioner is not to make a determination rega rd ing the legal sufficiency of a contractua l 
arrangement involving the beekeeper and owner or lessee of land . This is a cop-out. Current issues in the 
state defi n itely show that there is a l ready an issue of placement of apiaries on land without said landowner's 
or lessees' permission . By removing this requ i rement you are basica l ly saying that you don't care about 
landowner's rights and that a beekeeper can place apia ries without a lease as long as they notify the state of 
the apiaries location .  However, if on the appl ication for the registration of apiaries i n  the state of North Dakota 
we requ i re the land owner's notarized signature we mitigate the need for a copy of a contract between the 
land owner and beekeeper but mainta in the knowledge that the beekeeper has permission to place apia ries on 
these locations. These landowners' are often times unknowingly incurring a l iabi l ity when apiaries are placed 
on their land . On the apiary registration form, would it possible to insert a statement that the Beekeeper can 
certify to that they assume a l l  the risk and l iab i l ity for the bees? 

A big compla int that we have is un registered apiaries. This creates problems for fa rmers when they 
are on a deadl ine to spray an insecticide but either doesn't know about an apiary nearby and spray or they 
found an  unregistered apiary but don't know who the bees be long to. The Depart�ent of Agricu lture needs to 
have oversight so that landowner's/fa rmers/rural residents have recourse w�en an issue arises. The 
Department of Ag needs to hpve the ab i l ity to take action to correct the issu�s tha� a _rise between beekeepers 
and farmers. 

I 1 ' 

I n  the past some apiary registrations were fi led with the state with i ncorrect landowner names. The 
Department of Agriculture needs to have a system of checks and ba lances to address p9ssible fraud situations . 

• , • ' 1 "  

Beekeepers are cu rrently required to have a placard at or near the ent'rance ·of each apiary that 
conta ins the beekeeper's name, address, and te lephone number. Many beekeepers; if they are identifying the 
apiary at a l l, a re using spray pa int ·on 'the h ive to give the necessary information .  Having the placard at the 
entrance of each apiary makes it easy to read for identification pl.l rposes and a l leviates the need for anyone to 
trespass on private property to obta ih the needed contact information .  This requirement shouldn't be 
considered a hardship for the beekeeper. If they want to ·use spray pa int on the h i.ve as a secondary 
identification then by a l l  mea·ns· I agree. However, if it is a location that the beekeeper has a long stand ing 
agreement and has placed a·n apiary there 2 out of the last 3 years then I bel ieve that a placard is needed. This 
keeps people from driving on or accessing property to find out information that c9u ld cause l iab i l ity to the 
landowner. 

' ' ' I ' ' ! • t I 
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There are many compla ints in Northeastern North o:akota due to the ·1arge concentration of bees. The 
beekeepers are placing a large number of apiaries in this part of the state because ·of amount of canola grown 
in that area. Bees can produce more hbney off an acre of canola than they can off. any other crop grown in this 
state. The honey industry claims that their bees are providing a service to the canola growers by po l l i nating 
the canola. This c la im does not have any merit as the on ly canola grown that is open po l l i nating is canola 
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grown for seed and there is no seed canola grown in North Dakota to my knowledge. The canola that is 
produced in the state is hybrid canola . Hybrid canola is self-po l l i nating. Another c la im is the increase in yield 
to ca no la because of the bees, however; this is not proven with hybrid ca no la and many producers that l ive 
and work i n  the area would rather have a reduction in the number of bees because of the concerns for the 
hea lth and welfare of our residents. There has been a drastic i ncrease over the last 8 years in the number of 
apiaries in Cava l ier County a lone which is the largest canola producing area in the state. This over 
concentration of bees is causing problems for both farmers and rura l residents a l ike. There have been 
compla ints from bees swarming a farmer's water tra i ler during the sprayi ng season and swarms in rura l  
resident's yards. There are many possible so l utions to these problems. Some problems of over concentration 
arise from unregistered apia ries that wou ldn't be there if stiff fi nes and pena lties were in place because most 
of the time they do not have land owners perm ission to be there. A certa in percentage of complaints from 
rura l  residents and fa rmer's arise in August thru October when bees are sti l l  out on apiary locations even when 
there is no or l ittle food and water for them. Pol l ination usua l ly is done for most crops by the end of J u ly or 
ear ly August so having bees out on apia ries into late fa l l  causes the bees to search out water and food. Often 
times this leads them to yards. P lacing a requirement that bees be removed from Apiary locations by August 
5th would e l imi nate these compla ints. We shouldn't be a hold ing ground for the bees especia l ly if it is causing 
a nu isance to our rura l  residents. We need to remember that these bees are not native to North Dakota . 

I bel ieve there should be a step by step process for nu isance complaints that a l lows rural residents to 
have prescribed cou rse of action to fo l low when problems arise. A nu isance compla int that is filed with the 
Department of Agricu lture should be .add ressed with in 5 to 1q days. An inspection of the location shou ld occur 
in a timely manner to make sure adequate. food and water i� there for the bees 13nd , if a possi ble reductipn in 
size cou ld mitigate or lessen the problem. If th� problem persists then the apiary. shou ld be removed tq a 
location as far away from the residence whi le s�i l l  on the proRerty that the beekeeRer h.as permission to be on . 
Then i f after a l l  measures are taken tp make thE7 cohabitation work and .t he nu is�nce hasn't decreased the 
apiary shou ld be moved completely. Keeping and updating current legislation and enforcing our cu rrent laws 
would mitigate the confl ict between beekeepers and farmers. . 

. . 
Lessening the respons ib i l ity of the Department of Agriculture and relaxing our cu rrent laws and 

regulat ions wi l l  on ly create more problems and confl ict. The Department of Agricu lture's respons ib i l ity is to 
, I . • . . . • ' . 

run the apiary program to benefit b_oth beekeepers and fa rmers: Beekeeping is considered an agricu ltura l  
I . I enterprise and as such should be treated with the same care as the state's pesticide program in safety, 

welfare, and compl iance. Enfor�eme
.
nt of our la�s wi l l ben�fit both sides in k�eping 'honey pro1du�tion a top 

producer i n  our state. 

Kristie Sundeen 
10555 55th ST N E  
Brocket, ND 58321 

(701) 655-3566 - home 

. . • '  ' . . . ' , 

(701) 256-0964 - ce'l l sch i l l 2@hotmai l .com 
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Bee Issues i n  North Dakota 

1 .  Bee locations regarding work zones and rural residents 
2. Lack of support from ND Dept of Ag 
3. Unregistered Hives/Registered Hives not fol lowing NDCC 
4. Landowner permission 
5.  Restriction of numbers 
6. Signage at entrance 
7. Liabi l ity prescribed to bee owner not landowner 
8. Cost of be hive removal 
9. Licensure period 

1 0. Trespassing and refusing to answer cal ls 

1 .  Bee locations regarding work zones and rural residents. Hives should be required to 
be 2 mi les from any paved highway regarding safety for highway road construction 
workers and highway maintenance crews. Rural residents should have the same 
respect with a 2 mi le setback. Beekeepers are not the ones paying for medical 
attention, the people deal ing with the bees are whether its emergency hospital visits or 
constant epi-pen refi l ls. Rural residents and farmers have the right to use their private 
property without nuisance issues. 

2 .  The NODA needs to be more supportive of the residents of ND and fol low NDCC 
instead of passing the buck and disregarding ND law. 

3. Caval ier County's unregistered hives is upwards of 60%. The majority of the hives 
that are registered are sti l l  i l legal with regards to NDCC and violation of N DCC. There 
needs to be a monetary f ine ($2500) as wel l  as a 2 year ban for i l legal (and with i l legal ,  I 
mean unregistered h ives or beekeepers refusal to follow NDCC requirements) 
beekeeper for the fi rst violation. Should the NDCC be violated a second time, there 
should be a monetary fine ($5,000) and a 5 year ban of the beekeeper in ND .  If there is  
a thi rd violation, there needs to be a monetary fine ($1 0,000) and banishment of the 
beekeeper from the state. The monetary fines need to be high and increase 
dramatically with each incident. 

4. Landowner permission. The state needs a written agreement or copy of an 
agreement or lease with the landowner the beekeepers are working with. We have 
many residents that own land in ND and don't necessari ly l ive in ND and thats where 
the problem lies. This is public information. Anyone can find out if a particular piece of 
land has an owner out state and with that information i l legal ly drop hives and no one is 
the wiser. The agreement between landowner/beekeeper helps the Ag Dept. when 
investigating a location in an efficient manner. The agreement requirement is in the 
current law, but was taken out of the rewrite . I feel it needs to stay in the law and part of 
the l icensure process. 

5. Restriction of numbers. Every beekeeper should be al lowed a certain number of 
h ives annual ly. It also needs to be decided how many hives can be al lowed per county 



• for a maximum. Should a county reach a maximum, beekeepers cannot place anymore 
hives i n  that county and that should be part of the l icensure process. Beekeepers apply 
to have a specific number of hives for thei r locations, the state decides whats al lowed. 

6. S ignage at entrance. This is very important as sometimes hives are set back behind 
trees or in  shelter belts where people aren't able to see or know of. Also if there is issue 
with the bees, it doesn 't make sense for people to have to drive on private property to 
get the bee information. The sign needs to be big enough to read from a vehicle with 
the Beekeeper's name, address and phone number as wel l  as the phone number of the 
local contact that is in charge of the hives. It also needs to have its reg istration number 
from the state of ND located on it. 

7. Liabil ity prescribed to bee owner not landowner. All l iabi l ity with the bees should be 
the sole l iabi l ity of the beekeeper not the landowner. 

8. Cost of bee h ive removal . The cost of any bee h ive removal for any reason should 
be the sole cost of the beekeeper. This is the cost of doing business. Bee hives should 
only be moved when all the bees are back in the hives. 

9. Licensure period. Honey production is complete on average by the end of July fi rst 
part of August. A lot of the issues begin when beekeepers aren't getting the hives out of 
their locations after production, rather they are using North Dakota and our area as a 
"holding" location. During th is time there is l ittle rain  fal l so no fresh water, nothing to 
pol l inate and mi l l ions of bees ticked off that their  honey is missing making it miserable 
for everyone as the bees become very aggressive. The l icensure needs to expi re 
August 1 5th annual ly, with hives to be removed i n  a timely manner after honey 
production is done. 

1 0. Trespassing hives and refusal to answer phone cal ls. There needs to be a quicker 
response to beekeepers trespassing with NODA. These h ives need to be removed by 
the state within 48 hours. Beekeepers need to be held accountable when they do not 
answer phone cal ls or return cal ls or the party responsible is not answering or returning 
cal ls. Should there be no answer or no reply by either within 24 hours, the NODA needs 
to become the responsible party for the hives. 

Please keep in mind that it is not the farmer's in ND that need the bees, it is the 
beekeepers that need our crops for thei r  production. North Dakota loves to brag they 
are the highest in the nation for honey production. At what cost? What taxpayer 
freedoms are we sacrificing? What does ND get out of $97 mi l l ion in honey production? 



Shauna Schneider 
1 021 7 98th Ave 

Wales, N D  58281 
701 -370-0398 

schnid@utma.com 

is� ';)ors 
I 

SB2025 
--

January 14, 2015 

Chairman Senator Miller and Senate Committee Members, 

I attended the Legislative Committee hearing in Bismarck on January 8 ,  2015. My 
testimony was cut short due to time constraints and my handout was labeled Bee 
Issues in ND. After hearing a few people speak after myself, I had some concerns and 
or possible solutions to add to your already complex job. 

We heard from a beekeeper and his wife on how she runs a daycare out of their yard 
with no issues with bees and that bees only attack or become aggressive when they 
feel threatened. Here's my comments with that. The bees aren't aggressive because 
there is honey in the yard. The fact that they want to have that situation is fine, but the 
fact that they expect farmers to be okay with having to deal with the same situation is 
not. That is their livelihood and their choice, it is not my choice. My livelihood is farming 
and I can't do my job because I'm not given the same respect to be able to do my job as 
the beekeepers are. I have· very few options as federal laws prohibit me from being 
able to farm my land, of which I pay taxes on, properly. The bees that we are dealing 
with are not like the bees we heard about in testimony. The bees we are dealing with 
have no honey therefore no food. Bees in Cavalier County are starving to death 
because there is nothing to pollinate, no fresh water and now no food because their 
honey has been taken. Bees don't only become aggressive when they are threatened, 
they also become aggressive when they are dying. I have thousands of bees dead in 
my yard every year. They fill any water source we have including pet water, cattle water 
tanks, rain barrels and are in my garden constantly looking for something to pollinate. 
The bees attack my husband and hired man who are allergic to bees. The bees attack 
myself and my children, our cattle and our pets. We can't get John Deere, Farmer's 
Union, Dubois Oil, or Case IH to come into our yard in the fall to deliver fuel or help with 
repairs on equipment because our yard is filled with aggressive bees. There is an 
apiary 1/2 mile from our rural farmyard. We have no issues with the bees until after 
honey production, and only then are there issues because THERE IS NOTHING LEFT 
FOR THE BEES. If this was a cattle, horse or pig farm and they didn't take care of their 
animals it would be considered negligence and animal cruelty. Where are the same 
laws when beekeepers are starving and dehydrating their bees to death? 

Here's a scenario to think about: Say I have cattle and I'm allowed to let my cattle roam 
all over the county in a 3 mile radius eating off the farmer's crops and now because 
there are no more crops, I'm allowed to roam into farmer's yards and bin sites eating 
their yards and gardens. I'm allowed to do this because I'm producing beef, also a 



much needed commodity, but I don't have to follow any rules, respect private property 
or pay anyone for the use of their commodity, my nuisance and destruction. And to top 
off all the fun, the federal government not only pays me do to be able to do this but 
protects me to be able to do this. You change out the word bee to any other 
"agricultural" mass raised animal product and the story has a different feel. It shouldn't 
and that is where the problem lies. 

It was also brought up that the Beekeepers Association would like beekeeping in ND to 
stay as agricultural. If this is the case, then it would be in the state of ND's best interest 
to tax beekeepers with an agricultural tax for the areas the bees are "farming. " The 
farmer's are taxed through the teeth to be able to farm our commodities and we receive 
no benefits from bees or beekeepers with them using our commodities to create theirs. 
In fact, beekeepers receive more federal funding than farmer's. So beekeepers come 
into ND with very little fees to "farm", pay nothing to use our farmer's commodities to 
create theirs, and leave with $97 million and thats only the money calculated from 
REGISTERED hives, double that $97 million to include the UNREGISTERED hives and 
the reality of the money walking out of ND is $ 1 94 million annually and on top of that, 
beekeepers receive huge subsidies from the federal government to do it ! 

Should you decide to not go with an agricultural tax, in all reality the hives should be 
centrally assessed a tax. The wind farms in Cavalier County are all centrally assessed 
as they are "farming" a different type of commodity, energy. They pay taxes to do so. 

Tom Bodine also brought up the fact that the complaint calls have dropped. This isn't a 
success by any means, this shows that the people of ND have given up on the system 
as it isn't working and hasn't been working for a long time. You can't have increased 
numbers of hives and beekeepers coming into the state and have a drop in complaints, 
because with the registered there is also double the unregistered coming in. Kristi 
Sundeen has been complaining for five years and nothing has changed. Fines have 
only gone out this year. WHY? With the amount of money that the state would bring in, 
in fines, the state would be able to fund the apiary program and run it properly with the 
proper amount of employees. 

Chairman Joe Miller had brought up jokingly a "bee season." In all reality I believe that 
to be a great idea ! The state has so many different things going on across it, that it 
would be impossible to come up with a "date" of expiration for a license or season. 
However, I think it would solve everyone's problems if the wording in the state law 
referred to "flowering." Jesse the beekeeper stated that when "flowering" is done or 
frost has hit, he pulls his hives from alfalfa. Cavalier County doesn't have much alfalfa 
and the bees aren't here for alfalfa, they are here for the canola. The "flowering" 
wording in the law and the removal of hives within two weeks after crops are finished 
"flowering" would eliminate a lot of problems in a lot of areas of ND, not just ours. 

I myself have spoken with the Ag. Commissioner personally. Doug himself could not 
explain why hives were still in Cavalier County in September with nothing here for the 
bees. He couldn't understand it. He also stated that he didn't have the means to 



remove any hives in violation as he didn't have the staff or equipment to be able to do 
so. The reason the hives are still here is because there is nothing in the law that states 
they are to be removed once flowering or honey production is complete. They need to 
be removed. They need to be taken care of. 

Another issue is when bees are being dropped off and picked up. The transporting of 
bees needs to be addressed. Bees are being moved during daylight hours leaving bees 
behind, these bees are left to die. Bees should only be transported with all bees in 
hives. Secure the hives in the early mornings or in the evenings. Hives loaded onto 
trucks need to be netted to keep the bees in transit from being left behind. Every other 
commodity that is traveling our highway systems are required to be secured, why not 
bees? 

Should there be an investigation regarding the impact of these invasive species bees 
that are brought in by the millions and their impact on our local honey bees? Are local 
honey bees now an endangered species in our over hived counties? I haven't seen a 
local hive or a local honey bee in over 5 years. 

You will be receiving information from a gentleman by the name of Sherwood 
Haakenson from Rolette County. He is on the water board there and was attacked by a 
hive while mowing ditches. Almost died. Sherwood has been researching the bees 
coming into the state of ND and his area after his near death experience and has found 
that the bees that are being brought into our state are AGG RESSIVE. The reason they 
are aggressive is because they are being BRED to be aggressive. Why? I'll let 
Sherwood explain to you in great detail what he has learned. 

South Dakota has several levels of permits which is why I believe them to be 
successful. The permanent hives are to be 3 miles from each other ; however, you are 
allowed temporary hives within that 3 miles, but that is a 40 day permit. South Dakota 
isn't number one in honey production, but they also don't have the crops North Dakota 
has for honey production. We are the jackpot, but we also need to monitor and 
supervise this commodity area much more efficiently and productively to create a happy 
balance between beekeepers and taxpaying residents. I don't feel that it is fair to abuse 
the taxpaying residents, landowners and farmers to keep our number 1 honey 
production status. There are some things in life more important than status. 

I still feel strongly about the previous issues I brought to you on January 8th: 
1) Bee locations regarding work zones and rural resident's yards. 

2) Lack of support from ND Dept. of Ag. 
3) Unregistered hives and registered hives not following NDCC. Need stiffer penalties. 
4) Landowner permission verification needed as landowners don't always live in ND. 
5) Restriction of numbers of hives and bees in counties. NODA has final say of location. 
6) Signage at entrance is needed. 
7) Liability is beekeepers only. 
8) Cost of hive removal to be the beekeepers, it is a cost of doing business. 
9) Licensure period regarding removal of hives needed after "flowering. " 



1 0) Trespassing issues and beekeepers refusal to answer cal ls .  

J - '1  

Thank you so much for your t ime. I 'd also l ike to thank you a l l  for working so hard to get 
this bee law rewrite as good as it can possib ly get to el iminate loopholes and issues we 
have. If you have any q uestions or wou ld l ike to contact me, please don't hesitate in 
doing so. 

S incerely, 
Shauna Sch neider 
Cavalier County Resident 
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COMMISSIONER 
nouG GOEHRING 

June 28, 2013 

Dear Township Board: 

NORTH DAKOTA 
DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 

STATE CAPITOL 
600 E. BOULEY ARD A VE. - DEPT. 602 

BISMARCK, ND 58505-0020 

ndda@nd.gov 
www.nd.gov/ ndda 
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As the North Dakota Department of Agriculture, we develop a balanced approach to the multiple facets 
of agriculture when advocating and regulating for the agriculture industry. One of the areas we have 
oversight on is the Apiary "Bee" industry. The Apiary program regulates beekeepers and enforces 
beekeeping law. We are becoming increasingly aware of certain problems and are working to resolve 
those issues, such as; hives being placed without landowner permission and too close to section lines or 
roads. If you have a concern with beehives or beekeepers in an area you can go to our website: 
http: //www.nd.gov/ndda/program/apiarybees. On the site you will find a list of licensed beekeepers, 
registered locations, the beekeeping law, and a map of all registered locations . The locations on the map 
are registered to the nearest quarter section and the dot may not represent actual hive placement. If you 
have additional questions or are unable to access the website please contact our new State Apiary 
Inspector Samantha Brunner at (701) 328-4765 or by email sbrunner@nd.gov. 

The goal is to implement and enforce current beekeeping law by registering all locations and placing 
their name and contact information at the entrance of all apiary locations. If you are aware of 
unregistered locations please feel free to send us the legal description, including the quarter section of the 
property that the hives are located on (NE, NW, SE or SW corner). 

North Dakota ranks #1 for honey production in the Nation. I believe that the cooperation between honey 
producers and compliance with state law will benefit everyone. On July 31, we are hosting a pollinator 
summit, where stakeholders can provide feedback that helps us identify "Best Management Practices" 
(BMP's) assisting us in developing a pollinator protection plan. Our rural, apiary and ag community is 
encouraged to participate, it will serve all of our best interests to avoid a national policy or law on 
pollinators that supersede our rules and regulations with a one-size-fits-all approach. We are attempting 
to develop a plan that could serve as a model for other states as USDA and EPA work to develop a 
similar document that addresses apiary issues on a national level 

Please don't hesitate to contact our office if you have any questions. 

Sincerely, 

i?7~ 
Doug Goehring 
Agriculture Commissioner 

FAX 701-328-4567 Equal Opportunity in Employment and Services 
701-328-2231 
800-242-7535 



COMMISSIONER 
T)OUG GOEHRING 

July 12, 201 3 

Beekeeper 
Address 
Address 

Dear Beekeeper: 

NORTH DAKOTA 
DEPARTMENT OF A GRICULTURE 

STATE CAPITOL 
600 E. BOULEVARD AVE. -DEPT. 602 

BISMARCK, ND 58505-0020 

ndda@nd.gov 
www.agdepartment.com 

The Apiary program will be undergoing some changes over the next few years. As stated in the 
Beekeeping law (NDCC 4-12.2) all beekeepers are required to obtain a beekeeper's license every 
year, register all apiary locations, post identification at the entrance of all apiary locations, and obtain 
entrance permits before bringing bees into the state of North Dakota. 

To register apiary locations you must submit signed Landowner/Lessee Location Authorization 
forms along with an Application for Registration of Apiary Locations. To request forms please 
contact our new State Apiary Inspector, Samantha Brunner, at (701) 328-4765 or at 
sbrunner(@nd.gov. 

The entrance of every apiary must be identified with a placard containing the beekeepers name, 
address and telephone number. The placard must be at least 8 inches high by 11 inches long. The 
writing on the placard must be at least 12 inch high and legible. 

Beekeeper licenses are good for one year. An application must be submitted every year along with 
the required fees. 

Entrance permits are required before any bees or beekeeping equipment can be brought into North 
Dakota. To obtain an entrance permit fill out the Request for an Entrance Permit portion of your 
application packet or call our office. 

The Department of Agriculture is aware of the issues beekeepers are facing. We are hosting a 
Pollinator Summit on July 31, 2013 where stakeholders can provide feedback to assist in the 
development of a Pollinator Protection Plan. We are optimistic that this plan will serve as a model 
for other states as the USDA and the EPA work to develop a similar document that addresses apiary 
issues on a national level. 

Sincerely, 

Y7~ 
Doug Goehring 
Agriculture Commissioner 

FAX 701-328-4567 Eq ual Oppo rtu nity i n Emp loym ent and S ervice s 
701-328-2231 
800-242-7535 



Civil Penalty Authority* :  

Beekeeping 
NDCC 4-12.2 
NDAC 7-02 
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N.D.C.C. 4- 12 .2-22 authorizes a civil penalty not to exceed $5 ,000 for each violation of 

associated statutes or rules. 

Civil Penalty Guidelines (Matrix) for Violations of N.D.C.C. 4-12.2 : 

Statute Violation Civil Penalty 

4- 1 2.2-04 License. Maintaining bees without a valid No warning 
beekeeper's l icense. 1 00 to 1 000 

4- 1 2.2-07 Registration. Failure to register an apiary. 
Landowner permission: Warning - 1 000 

No landowner permission: 250- 1 000 

Nuisance. Commissioner may cancel a 
4- 1 2 .2-08. 1  registration if the apiary is causing a nuisance Cancel registration 

as defined in Chapter 42-0 1 . 

Identification of Colonies. Failure to 
Warning to 500 or 

4- 1 2.2- 1 4  
identify colonies per the statute. 

Deemed abandoned and subject to 
seizure. 

Africanized Honey Bees. Use a swarm of 
4- 1 2.2- 1 8 . l  honey bees positively identified as being 1 000 to 5000 

Africanized in a beekeeping operation. 

4- 1 2 .2-20 Shipment. Failure to obtain an entrance 
Warning 

permit. 

*Violations of this chapter are also gui lty of a class A misdemeanor. 
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North Dakota Department of Agriculture process on implementing requirements of the 
Beekeeping Law 

As part of the changes to the Apiary Program, starting in 20 1 3 , the department reached out to 
beekeepers across the state to educate them about the changes that were happening in the 
department and what their responsibil ities were. So in 20 1 3  only warning letters were issued for 
unregistered locations. Each beekeeper received a letter explaining these changes .  In 20 14  we 
started over with warning letters for the first violation. 

Warning and Fine letters 20 1 4  
• Warning letters to 45 beekeepers for 1 06 unregistered locations 
• Regulatory action taken against 2 1  beekeepe3rs 
• Fines to beekeepers: 1 0  

o 9 fines for $ 1 50 for unregistered locations 
o 1 fine for $250 for no landowner permission 

Process for handling unregistered locations: 
• Office receives location information from inspector 
• Warning letter is issued for the 1 st offense, beekeeper is given 1 5  days, from the letter 

date, to register the location or move the hives. 
• If beekeeper does not register the location or move the hives a fine is issued but 

suspended giving them 1 5  days to register the location or sign a document testifying that 
the hives were moved by the given deadline. 

• If stil l  unregistered or moved they get another letter with the fine amount l isted and 
requirements to either register or move the hives AND pay the penalty. 

• The original warning letter is a warning for that beekeeper to register all apiary locations, 
not just the ones that were listed in the original letter. If after a suspended fine is issued, 
we find additional unregistered yards belonging to the same beekeeper they move straight 
on to the fine letter with no suspended fine 

• If any penalty is not paid the beekeeper will not be able to obtain a beekeeper' s license 
the following year until that penalty is paid. Currently we have 3 beekeepers that will not 
be able to obtain a 20 1 5  beekeepers license due to unpaid fines. 

• A beekeeper will only receive 1 warning letter in 5 years. If after 5 years they have had 
no other violations they wil l  then receive a warning letter. Suspended fines wil l  only be 
issued for the first 2 violations, after that they wil l  receive increasingly higher penalties 
and no suspended fines or warnings. 

F A X  7 0 1 - 3 2 8 - 4 5 6 7  E qual Opp o rtunity i n  E mp loyment  and Se rvices 
T E L E P H O N E  7 0 1 - 3 2 8 - 2 2 3 1 

T O L L - F R E E  8 0 0 - 2 4 2 - 7 5 3 5  
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Process for handling locations with no landowner permission 
• A landowner needs to call to report a location on their own property that has been placed 

with no landowner permission. The process is explained to the landowner so they know 
what action we will be talcing and a timeline. 

• If we don't know who the beekeeper is an apiary inspector is sent to the location, we 
typically get to the location within 2 days 

• Once the beekeeper is identified the inspector call s  the office with the location and 
information 

• A letter is sent to the beekeeper immediately with a suspended fine giving them 1 0  days 
to move the hives or register the location (they are unlikely to get landowner permission) 

• After 1 0  days, assuming we have not heard from the landowner that the hives have been 
moved, the inspector goes back to the location. If the hives are sti l l  at the location the 
beekeeper is called and another certified letter is sent describing the penalty that they are 
responsible for paying. For no landowner permission the beekeeper is responsible for a 
penalty for each location that is found with no landowner permission. 

• If additional locations are found with no landowner permission, resulting in a second 
violation, the beekeeper immediately receives a fine and is given 1 0  days to move the 
hives. Subsequent violations would result in increasingly higher penalties. 

Additional statistics for the Apiary Program 
• 7 .8% increase in Registered Beekeepers 

• 205 in 20 1 3  

• 22 1 in 20 1 4  

• 8 .4% increase in Registered Colonies 

• 482,560 in 20 1 3  

• 522,94 1 in 20 1 4  

• 1 4.2% increase in Registered Locations 

• 1 1 ,050 in 20 1 3  

• 1 2,620 in 20 1 4  

• 40% decrease in complaints 

• 59 complaints in 20 1 3  

• 24 complaints in 201 4  

If you have any questions please feel free to contact Samantha Brunner at 328-4765 or email 
sbrunner@nd.gov. 
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RE: VIOLATION OF STATE LAW 

Dear (BEEKEEPER), 

The Department has received complaints from landowners for your hives located at the following 
locations: 

County QTR S-T-R 
County QTR S-T-R 

You did not acquire permission from the landowners to use the locations and you did not register 
the locations as required by state law. 

Regulatory Response 

The Department's response to beekeeping violations may vary from issuing a warning to a 
maximum $5,000 civil penalty per violation. 

Because you failed to obtain landowner permission, you are being assessed an administrative 
penalty of $250, for failure to register all apiary locations and failure to obtain landowner 
perm1ss10n. 

The Department offers you four options to resolve this matter: 

1. Sign the attached Administrative Consent Agreement and enclose the penalty of $250 
with a check made payable to the North Dakota Department of Agriculture AND sign the 
agreement stating that you moved the hives at the above locations. 

2. Sign the attached Administrative Consent Agreement and enclose the penalty of $250 
with a check made payable to the North Dakota Departme_nt of Agriculture AND submit 
all paperwork to register the location. 

FAX 701-328-45 67 Equal Opportun ity in Emp loyment and S ervice s 
701-328-2231 
800-242-7535 
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3 .  Request an informal conference with the Department. The purpose o f  an informal 
conference would be only to either discuss the factual basis of the case or to discuss a 
payment schedule, not to negotiate the administrative penalty. 

4 .  Request an administrative hearing with the Office of Administrative Hearings. If you 
request a hearing and the judge rules in the Department's favor, the Department wil l  also 
seek reimbursement for its hearing costs. 

You may want to seek an attorney to advise you in this matter. If you choose to resolve this 
matter with the Agreement, sign it and return to the Department of Agriculture. The signed 
Administrative Consent Agreement and check must be returned to this office by l Odays, 20 14 .  

I f  you do  not agree to ( 1 )  the Administrative Consent Agreement and (2) do not request an 
informal conference, we wil l  begin (3) the administrative hearing process by serving a written 
complaint. If you do not submit a timely response to the complaint, the allegations in it wil l  be 
deemed admitted and an order will be entered based on those allegations. If you submit a 
response contesting the complaint, a hearing on the matter wil l  be scheduled. 

This settlement offer is made under N.D.R.Ev. 408 and is not admissible as evidence. This 
settlement offer, if not accepted by you, is withdrawn on 1 5days, 20 1 4. 

Thank you for your cooperation in this matter. Contact Samantha Brunner, the State Apiary 
Inspector, at 1 -800-242-7535 or sbrunner@nd.gov with any questions or concerns. 

Sincerely, 

Tom Bodine 
Deputy Commissioner 

Enclosures 
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STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA 

NORTH DAKOTA DEPARTMENT OF AG RICULTURE 

IN THE MATTER OF: 

BEEKEEPER 
ADDRESS 
ADDRESS 

ADM I N ISTRATIVE CONSENT 
AG REEMENT 

I ,  BEEKEEPER ("Beekeeper") , admit and agree to the following :  

1 .  The Agriculture Commissioner ("Commissioner") has jurisd iction to fully 

adjudicate this matter under N . D .C.C .  chapters 4-1 2 .2  and 28-32. 

2 .  BEEKEEPER waives h is/her right to  an administrative hearing only as to those 

matters specifically stipu lated to and admitted here in .  

3 .  BEEKEEPER admits that he/she violated N . D .C.C .  § 4-1 2 .2-07 by fai l ing to 

register h is/her apiary/apiaries located at: County QTR S-T-R.  

4 .  BEEKEEPER agrees to settle th is matter and pay a civil penalty to the 

Commissioner in the amount of $250 for the violation admitted herein .  

AND 

a .  submit an Apiary Location Authorization form signed by the 

landowner by 1 5days , 20 1 4 .  

b .  submit a signed statement agreeing to move the h ives off 

th is location by 1 5days, 20 1 4 .  
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Fai lu re to rem it a payment along with this fu l ly-executed Agreement may result in  

the Commissioner's rejection of the Agreement, in which case the Commissioner 

may seek al l  legal remedies provided by law. 

STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA 

NORTH DAKOTA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE 

ADM I N ISTRATIVE CONSENT AG REEMENT 

Printed name 

Signed 

Title 

Accepted By: 

Tom Bod ine 
Deputy Ag ricu ltu re Comm issioner 
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___ , 20 1 4  

(BEEKEEPER) 
(ADDRESS 1 )  
(ADDRESS 2) 

STATE CAPITOL 

600 E. BOULEVARD AVE. - DEPT. 602 

BISMARCK, ND 58505-0020 

RE: VIOLATION OF STATE LAW 

Dear (BEEKEEPER), 

The Department inspected your hives located at the following locations: 

County QTR S-T-R 
County QTR S-T-R 

The inspection showed that the location(s) were not registered as required by state law. 

N.D.C.C. § 4- 1 2 .2-07 requires each beekeeper to register all apiaries that are or wil l  be 
maintained by the beekeeper when applying for a license. 

Regulatory Response 

The Department' s  response to beekeeping violations may vary from issuing a warning to a 
maximum $5,000 civil penalty per violation. 

Because you have previously been warned for having unregistered yards, you are assessed an 
administrative penalty of $ 1 50 for failure to register all apiary locations. 

The Department offers you three options to resolve this matter: 

F AX 7 0 1 - 3 2 8 - 4 5 6 7  

1 .  Sign the Agreement and enclose the penalty of $ 1 50 with a check made payable to 
the North Dakota Department of Agriculture OR sign the agreement stating that 
you moved the hives at the above location OR sign the agreement and submit all 
paperwork to register the location. The $ 1 50 penalty wil l  be suspended pending a 
future violation. 

Equal Opp ortunity in Emp loyment and S e rvices 
7 0 1 - 3 2 8 - 2 2 3 1  

8 0 0 - 2 4 2 - 7 5 3 5  
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2 .  Request an informal conference with the Department. The purpose of an informal 
conference would be to discuss the factual basis of the case or to discuss a 
payment schedule, not to negotiate the penalty. 

3 .  Request an administrative hearing with the Office o f  Administrative Hearings. If 
you request a hearing and the judge rules in the Department's favor, the 
Department will also seek reimbursement for its costs. 

You may want to seek an attorney to advise you in this matter. If you choose to resolve this 
matter with the Agreement, sign it and return to the Department of Agriculture. The signed 
Administrative Consent Agreement and check must be returned to this office by ( 1 5  days), 20 1 4. 

If you do not agree to ( 1 )  the Administrative Consent Agreement and (2) do not request an 
informal conference, we will begin (3) the administrative hearing process by serving a written 
complaint. If you do not submit a timely response to the complaint, the allegations in it will be 
deemed admitted and an order will be entered based on those allegations. If you submit a 
response contesting the complaint, a hearing on the matter wil l  be scheduled. 

This settlement offer is made under N.D.R.Ev. 408 and is not admissible as evidence. This 
settlement offer, if not accepted by you, is withdrawn on (20 days), 20 1 4 .  

Thank you fo r  your cooperation i n  this matter. Contact Samantha Brunner, the State Apiary 
Inspector, at 1 -800-242-7535  or sbrunner@nd.gov with any questions or concerns. 

Sincerely, 

Tom Bodine 
Deputy Commissioner 

Enclosures 



STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA 

NORTH DAKOTA DEPARTMENT OF AG RIC U LTURE 

IN THE MATTER OF: 

BEEKEEPER 
ADDRESS 
ADDRESS 

ADMIN ISTRATIVE CONSENT 
AG REEMENT 

I ,  BEEKEEPER ("Beekeeper") , admit and agree to the following:  
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1 .  The Agriculture Commissioner ("Commissioner") has jurisd iction to ful ly 

adjud icate th is matter u nder N . D .C .C .  chapters 4-1 2 .2  and 28-32. 

2. BEEKEEPER waives h is/her right to an administrative hearing only as to those 

matters specifically stipu lated to and admitted here in .  

3 .  BEEKEEPER admits that he/she violated N . D.C .C .  § 4-1 2 .2-07 by fai l ing to 

reg ister h is/her apiary/apiaries located at: County QTR S-T-R. 

4 .  BEEKEEPER agrees to: 

a .  settle this matter and pay a civil penalty to the Commissioner i n  the 

amount of $ 1 50 for the violation admitted herein .  

b .  submit a signed statement agreeing to move the hives off this 

location by 1 5  days , 201 4 .  

c .  submit an Apiary Location Authorization form signed by the 

landowner. 

The Department wi l l  suspend the $1 50 civil penalty pending future violations if 

Beekeeper moves the h ives off the locations or if Beekeeper submits Apiary 
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Location Authorization forms along with the signed Agreement to the North Dakota 

Department of Agricu lture . Fai lure to remit a payment, a signed Apiary Location 

Authorization form or removal of the hives along with th is fu l ly-executed Agreement 

may resu lt i n  the Commissioner's rejection of the Agreement, i n  which case the 

Commissioner may seek a l l  legal remed ies provided by law. 

STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA 

NORTH DAKOTA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICU LTU RE 

ADMIN ISTRATIVE CONSENT AG REEMENT 

Pri nted name 

Signed 

Title 

Accepted By: 

Tom Bod ine 
Deputy Ag ricu ltu re Comm issioner 
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2014 Warning and Fine Letters 
The North Dakota Department of Agriculture (NDDA) began sending out new 

warning and fine letters this year. If you received a fine letter and failed to regis­

ter the location by the given deadline and pay the fine, you will be unable to get 

a 20 1 5  beekeeper's license
' 
until the penalty has been paid. If you think you may 

have an outstanding penalty, please contact our office. 

If you received a warning letter in 20 1 4  you will not receive another warning in 

20 1 5 , you will receive a penalty. 

2015 Legislative Session 
The North Dakota Legislative Coun- r------��-���-;;;;� 
cil has rewritten the state 's beekeep­

ing law which will be considered by 

the Legislature beginning in January. 

You can comment on the proposed 

bill  by contacting your legislators or 

by testifying during the committee 

hearings. This bill will be heard by 

the agriculture committees of both 

houses before final action. NDDA 

will be attend the hearings to provide 

testimony and to answer questions. 

It is very likely that other entities will 

put in bills to regulate beekeeping in 

the state. We are not aware of any de­

tails at this time but encourage you to 

pay attention and make sure your 

opinion is heard. As with the rewrite bill, NDDA will be present to answer ques­

tions and to offer testimony on these bills. 

Any changes to the beekeeping law will not take effect until Aug. 1 ,  20 1 5  unless 

an emergency clause is enacted. 



North Dakota Pollinator Plan 
The North Dakota Pollinator Plan was launched 

about a year ago. We want to hear how things might 

have changed in respect to pesticide applications and 

bees. Were you contacted more by applicators about 

pending pesticide applications? Do you think that the 

plan has increased awareness for bee/pesticide is­

sues? Please contact us with any information or ideas 

about the pollinator plan. To see the plan, visit 

NDDA's website -www.nd.gov/ndda/. 

Message from the State Apiary Inspector 
Greetings ! It has been quite a year. Thanks to the many of you who put proper 

signs up on all of your locations and those of you who had all of your locations 

registered and up to date. 

Complaints were down about 40 per­

cent this year. We also saw an in­

crease in registered yards, beekeepers 

and registered locations. Please re­

member to communicate with your 

landowners. While many of you have 

worked very hard to comply with the 

law, I encourage those of you who 

are a little behind to start working on 

those landowner forms now and get 

signs made to place in your yards 

right away this spring. 

I will be on maternity leave most of February through April. During my ab­

sence, Carrie Larson, Plant Industries Division Director, will assume my duties. 

I will be in close contact with her and will be able to answer any difficult ques­

tions. My phone will be forwarded so someone wil l  still be able to help you if 

you call my number. You can still email me, but you may not get a quick re­

sponse. Elaine Sayler wil l  still be processing applications, so there should not 

be a delay in the registration process. 

Sincerely, 



15.0365.01000 

Sixty-fourth 
Legislative Assembly 
of North Dakota 

1sAf3' 
BILL NO. 

I 

Introduced by 

Senator Miller 

1 A Bl LL for an Act to create and enact a new section to chapter 4-12.1 of the North Dakota 

2 Century Code or in the alternative to create and enact section 4.1-16-08.1 of the North Dakota 

3 Century Code, relating to the required movement or confinement of bees if pesticide is being 

4 applied in the area; and to provide for the applicability of a penalty. 

5 BE IT ENACTED BY THE LEGISLATIVE ASSEMBLY OF NORTH DAKOTA: 

6 SECTION 1. If Senate Bill No. 2025 does not become effective, a new section to chapter 

7 4-12.2 of the North Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as follows: 

8 Confinement or relocation of bees ·Applicator · Notice. 

9 L As a condition of licensure. a beekeeper must sign a statement agreeing to confine or 

10 

11 

relocate bees within twenty-four hours. if notified by a pesticide applicator that 

spraying will occur within two miles of the apiary. 

12 2. If an applicator is unable to contact a beekeeper or if the beekeeper is unable or 

13 

14 

unwilling to confine or relocate bees. as required by this section. the applicator shall 

notify the agriculture commissioner. 

15 ~ The agriculture commissioner may contract for the relocation or confinement of the 

16 bees. The beekeeper shall reimburse the commissioner for any costs incurred by the 

17 commissioner in contracting for the relocation or confinement of the bees under this 

18 subsection. 

19 SECTION 2. If Senate Bill No. 2025 becomes effective, section 4.1-16-08.1 of the North 

20 Dakota Century Code is created and enacted as follows: 

21 4. 1-16-08.1. Confinement or relocation of bees ·Applicator· Notice. 

22 L As a condition of licensure, a beekeeper must sign a statement agreeing to confine or 

23 

24 

relocate bees within twenty-four hours, if notified by a pesticide applicator that 

spraying will occur within two miles of the apiary. 

Page No. 1 15.0365.01000 
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15.0032.05002 
Title. 

.:#-/ 
Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator Miller 

February 4, 2015 ;;Jjtj!S 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2025 

Page 2, line 4, replace "required" with "-Application - Declaration" 

Page 2, after line 13, insert: 

~ As a condition of licensure. the applicant shall declare that: 

§..:. An apiary will not be placed at a location without first obtaining the 
consent of the property owner; 

Q.,. Bees at each location will be provided with sufficient water; and 

.Q.,,, An apiary will be relocated at the request of the agriculture 
commissioner if: · 

ill The commissioner, after examining documentary evidence, has 
determined that the health or welfare of an individual is 
endangered as a result of the apiary's location; 

(21 The individual referenced in paragraph 1 resides on land 
contiguous to that on which the apiary has been placed; 

Ql The commissioner has identified another acceptable location for 
placement of the apiary; and 

ill There are no other contractual or other legal impediments to the 
relocation." 

Page 3, remove lines 18 through 30 

Page 4, replace lines 1 through 3 with: 

".1. A beekeeper shall identify each apiary for which the beekeeper is 
responsible by: 

§..:. Affixing a three-digit identification number. assigned by the agriculture 
commissioner, to the uppermost box of a hive that is visible upon 
approach to the apiary's main entrance, provided each digit is at least 
three inches [7 .62 centimeters] high, one-half inch [1 .27 centimeters] 
wide. and weather-resistant; and 

Q.,. Displaying the beekeeper's name and phone number in a location that 
is visible upon approach to the apiary's main entrance, provided the 
numbers and letters used are at least one and one-half inches [3.81 
centimeters] high and weather-resistant." 

Page 4, line 4, replace the second "is" with "may be" 

Page 4, line 27, replace", provided" with". Except when conducting an inspection in 
accordance with section 4.1-16-13," 

Page 4, line 27, after "commissioner" insert "shall" 

Page 4, line 27, replace "makes" with "make" 

Page No. 1 15.0032.05002 



Page 4, line 31 , after the underscored period insert "The commissioner may charge a fee to 
cover the costs of inspecting an apiary under this section." 

Page 6, line 4, after "chapter" insert "or rules adopted under this chapter" 

Page 6, after line 9, insert: 

~ The violation of any condition of licensure, as set forth in section 4.1-16-02, 
is deemed to be a violation of th is chapter." 

Page 6, line 10, replace "Relocation of apiary - Petition - Hearing" with "Beekeeping -
Agricultural practice" 

Page 6, remove lines 11 through 31 

Page 7, replace lines 1 through 12 with" Beekeeping is deemed to be an agricultural practice." 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 2 15.0032.05002 
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ENGROSSED SENATE BILL N� 
Presentation to the 

HOUSE AG RICULTU RE COMMITIEE 

Senior Cou nsel 

North Dakota Legislative Council 

Senate Bi l l  2025 is the last of the interim agriculture bills for this sess ion. 

� 1 

There is not a lot of interim background that I can provide you. The interim d iscussion was rea l ly 
focused on the ind ividual sections in the bi l l and how best to clean up and improve the current law. That 
d iscussion continued on the Senate side and resulted in some addit ional amendments. 

Section 1 of the bi l l  is a cross-reference reconci l iation. Because this bill is proposing the repeal of the 
current bee chapter and the adoption of a new bee chapter, section numbers a re be ing changed and we 
need to ensure that other chapters of the code, which currently reference the o ld law, would actual ly be 
referencing the new law. 

Page 1, line 15. This is the defin it ion section .  The interim committee removed a number of defin itions 
because, as the chapter was rewritten, it no longer used some of the references and as you know by 
now, if the terms a re not used in the chapter, they do not need to be defined. Likewise, if terms a re 
fa irly well understood, l i ke "property owner," they do not need to be defined. 

One of the things that the interim committee did do is to define a colony and a h ive - properly. Those 
terms seem to be used interchangeably and often, incorrectly. 
A "colony" is a fami l i a l  group of adult bees consisting of d rones, workers, and a queen. 
A "h ive" is the structure that houses a colony. 

Page 2, l ine 4. The bil l addresses beekeeper l icenses. Current law has a provision that states the person 
must be licensed by March first. Current law does not, however, ind icate what happens on March 
second. 

The interim committee treated beekeeping l icenses l ike fishing l icenses. You do not need one before 
opening day, but you do need one before you start to fish . The same thing was done last interim when 
your col leagues dealt with l ivestock dealer l icenses. 

Page 2, l ines 14 - 25. This was a Senate add ition . The first part states that as a cond ition of l icensure, 
the appl icant declares that an apiary wi l l not be placed at a location without first obta in ing the consent 
of the property owner. 

Current law requ i res a beekeeper to provide to the Agriculture Commissioner the name of the person 
on whose property the ap iary is located. If the beekeeper is not the property owner, the beekeeper 
must provide a copy of the written lease or some other document from the property owner granting the 
appl icant permiss ion to ma intain an apiary at that location. The written lease or document is adequate 
for mu ltiple years if the parties to the agreement remain the same. 

#I 



The interim committee was told that this requirement was somewhat problematic in that there are 
absentee property owners who are hard to contact and lessees theoretica l ly should not be authorizing 
permitted property uses, but they a re often the ones who are ava i lable . Agricultu re department 
personnel were not in a posit ion to examine al l of the paperwork and determine whether it was 
appropriate or not. 

So, as the d iscussions ensued, it was decided that a clean way to admin ister this would be to have the 
beekeeper l itera l ly state that he or she has the permission of the landowner to p lace an apiary at a 
specific location . 

I n order to connect the dots, you have to turn to the pena lty section on page 6.  At l ine 18,  i t  states that 
the vio lation of any condit ion of l icensure is deemed to be a violation of the chapter. 

2 

Page 2, l ine 17. Under cu rrent law, the Agriculture Commissioner can l itera l ly cancel the registration of 
an apiary if the bees a re causing a nu isance. If you are on the receiving end of some problematic bees, 
that sounds l ike a great provis ion to have. However, that concept has a few legal prob lems, sta rting 
with some "due process" issues. We are dea l ing someone's l ivel ihood. One cannot s imply say "get your 
bees out of here," without so much as a hearing. 

If the beekeeper owns the land, one would be preclud ing him from conducting a lawfu l activity on that 
land. What if he has a pol l ination contract? What if the landlord wil l not allow the beekeeper to 
relocate to another port ion of the fa rm? 

During the interim, we d rafted a version of what this concept would look like if it were lega l ly 
appropriate. It was lengthy and it was complex. The Senate opted for a simpler way of reaching the 
desired goal, without a l l  of the legal baggage. Aga in, it involved l icensure. 

As a condit ion of l icensure, the beekeeper would have to agree to relocate an apiary at the request of 
the Agriculture Commissioner, provided: 

(1) The commissioner, after examin ing documentary evidence, determines that the health or 
welfare of an ind ividual is endangered as a result of the apiary's location; 
(2) The ind iv idual referenced in pa ragraph 1 resides on land contiguous to that on which the 
apiary has been placed; 
(3) The commissioner has identified another acceptable location for placement of the apiary; 
and 
(4)  There are no other contractual or other legal impediments to the re location . 

Page 2,  l ine 26. Like current law, a minor is permitted to obta i n  a beekeeping l icense, provided the 
minor's parent is wi l l ing to sign the appl ication .  

Page 3 ,  Line 1.  Like current law, a beekeeper's l icense i s not transferable. It expires on December 3151 • 

This latter provision is new. It clarifies that a new l icense is needed each ca lendar year. 

Page 3, Line 4. Under current law, a l icense can be denied if the appl icant is found gui lty of repeated 
violations of the chapter, or if the person has fa i led to pay an adjudicated civil pena lty. Those concepts 
remain . 
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Under current law, if a person provides false or m islead ing information in connection with any 
appl ication o r  notification required by the chapter, that person is subject to the pena lties provided for in 
the chapter -- i .e . a Class A m isdemeanor ( 1  yr/$3000) and/or a $5000 civil pena lty. 

The interim committee opted to include the provision of false or m islead ing information on an 
appl ication, o r  a required report, as a ground for l icense denia l .  

Page 3,  Line 11 .  License fees continue as they a re currently -- i .e . at $5 

Page 3, Line 13 .  Colony assessments continue as they are currently -- i .e . at 15 cents per colony 

Page 3, line 17. This is the apiary location section .  Under current law, a beekeeper is required to 
" register" a l l  apiaries with the commissioner. However, under current law, there is no min imum 
d istance -- no "do not compete" provisions. 

So, in effect, a l l  that the beekeepers a re statutorily doing is te l l ing the commissioner where their 
apiaries wi l l be placed. i .e. They a re "notifying" the commissioner. In the interest of modernizing this 
section, beekeepers can provide the commissioner with GPS coordinates and they can provide the 
notification electronica l ly. 

Page 3, l ine 29. This is the apiary identification section. This section has been a work in progress since 
the interim .  There a re obviously d ifferent ways in which one can identify an apiary. The cha l lenge has 
been trying to find one that meets everyone's needs. 

Under current law, a beekeeper is to use a weather proof placard at least 8x11 in size. The writing must 
be at least Yi inch high and legib le . It must conta in the beekeeper's name, address, and phone number 
and be positioned at or near the apiary's main entrance or on a h ive . 

[Problem: blow away; lettering too small to read at a comfortable distance; grass would hide it] 

As the bi l l came from the Senate, it would require a three d igit identification number assigned by the 
Agriculture Commissioner. This is the beekeeper's l icense number. The number would have to be at 
least 3 inches high and Yi inch wide. The number would have to be weather resistant. The number 
would have to be placed on the uppermost box of a hive that is visible upon approach to the apiary's 
main entrance. 

In addition, the bil l requ i res that a beekeeper d isplay the beekeeper's name and phone number in a 
location that is visible upon approach to the apiary's main entrance, using letters that a re at least Yi inch 
high and weather - resistant . 

If a n  apiary is not identified as required, and if after making reasonable efforts to determ ine who is the 
beekeeper, no name comes up, the Agricu lture Commissioner may seize the apiary. 

Because we want to ensure that there is due process, a seizure involves having the Agriculture 
Commissioner publ ish a notice in the official newspaper of the county, ind icating that, at a time certa in, 
al l of the colon ies, together with all of the paraphernal ia on the site wi l l be se ized and sold at auction or 
destroyed, un less the beekeeper or other responsible person appears to claim the property and pay for 
any costs incurred by the commissioner. 
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Page 4, l ine 23. This section addresses confiscation and disposa l .  If bees a re being transported or 
maintained in violation of this chapter, they can be confiscated . The Ag Commissioner or the law 
enforcement officer then has to get a court order or an admin istrative order regard ing the d isposition of 
the property. 

(Seizure involves the act of taking. Confiscation involves the act of not returning property as a 

form of punishment.) It's sometimes a fine distinction. There are some practical issues with this 

as well. Bees are not like other goods that can be placed in a locked warehouse. You need 

appropriate equipment, someone who knows what they are doing, and appropriate places to 

park the bees. 

Page 4, l ine 29. This section references various powers given to the Agriculture Commissioner. Under 
the current statute, those a re given to the "state bee inspector." Under current law, there a re actual ly 
severa l references to the Agricultu re Commissioner having to do certa in things at the d i rection of the 
bee inspector. The interim committee suggested that this would be a good time to cla rify that the 
legislative directive needs to be given to the Agriculture Commissioner and that the commissioner can in 
turn delegate duties to h i s staff, as appropriate. 

In this particular section, the Agriculture Commissioner is given two powers. The first invo lves assisting 
fa rmers in identifying beekeepers who provide pol l ination services. Current law words that rather 
awkward ly, but this is the intent. 

Subsection 2 is a change. This is located at the top of page 5. Current law provides that if the bee 
inspector or a deputy inspector receives a compla int from a beekeeper, an aerial sprayer, or a fa rmer, 
the inspector may enter private property during reasonable hours to make an external inspection for 
the purpose of identifying a colony. The problem was twofold : hat if the complaint is fi led by someone 
other than one of the 3 l isted parties? What if the commissioner needs to enter the property in order to 
enforce this chapter? 

I n  the rewrite, the interim committee authorized the Agriculture Commissioner to enter upon private 
land during dayl ight hours for the purpose of enforcing the chapter - rega rd less of who complained, 
provided that the commissioner first make a good fa ith effort to notify the owner of the land or a lessee, 
rega rding the entry. This was done so that people know who is wandering a round their property. 

The Senate changed this sl ightly to state that the landowner notification is not required if the 
Agricu lture Commissioner, i .e . if the state bee inspector, is there at the request of a beekeeper for the 
purpose of issuing a certificate of inspection or some other official document. 

Page 5, l ine 5. When the beekeeper requests this type of an inspection, the section would al low the 
commissioner to cha rge a fee in order to cover the cost of provid ing the inspection .  My understanding 
is that fees have not been charged in the past but may need to be, depending on the budget, the 
weather, and the number of inspection requests that might be forthcoming. 

Page 5, l ine 9. This is a n  unofficial i nspection section .  If a beekeeper would l ike to have someone come 
out for any reason other than an official i nspection - such as perhaps for a "consultation," the 
commissioner may provide the inspection and may charge a fee to cover any attendant costs. 

(Fees are currently permitted for "additional" health inspections, but the law is vague about fees 

in other instances.) 
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Page 5, line 15. This is a quarantine section. Current law has a rather perplexing section on what ought 
to happen in the event that Africanized bees are identified. It addresses migration and periods within 
which colonies can and cannot be moved. It talks about marking or clipping queens and requeening with 
certified breeder queens, production queens, or queen cells. 

What Agriculture Department personnel said they really needed was the ability to impose a quarantine, 
whether that be for Africanized bees or to control the spread of disease, etc. 

Under normal circumstances, in order for a quarantine to be issued, there must be a notice and a 
hearing and if there is an order, it must state the date by which or the circumstances under which the 
quarantine will be lifted. 

If there is an emergency, the Agriculture Commissioner may order a quarantine and then within 14 days, 
he must go through the standard notice, hearing, and order procedure that I just described. 

Page 6, line 4. This is a section entitled "Service of Process." This too is in current law and allows the 
Agriculture Commissioner to accept service of process in the event that neither a beekeeper nor his 
registered agent can be found. 

Thereafter, beginning on line 9, there is the "Penalty" section. The penalties are the same as current law 
-- i.e. a class A misdemeanor (1 yr/$3000) and a $5000 civil fine. These are maximum amounts. 

There is one change, however. Current law provides that a person may be guilty of a class A 
misdemeanor for violating this chapter or rules adopted under the chapter. The Legislative Assembly 
has been very reluctant to allow the imposition of a criminal penalty for a rules violation. 

In this case, the apiary division has only minimal rules and rules have not been issued or amended since 
1992. But, one does not know what future rules might address. 

So, rather than commit the Legislative Assembly to a criminal penalty for a yet to be defined act or 
omission, the language was crafted to provide that there may be a criminal penalty for violating the 
chapter, but not for violating a rule. If an activity is worthy of a criminal penalty, the interim committee 
suggested that the Agriculture Commissioner should place a bill before the Legislative Assembly. 

A rules violation is, however, grounds for a civil penalty. 

Page 6, line 21. This is the continuation of a current concept -- i.e. That beekeeping is deemed to be an 
agricultural practice and finally, there is the section repealing the current beekeeping chapter. 

This bill was part of the rewrite effort and as we have done all along, we created a new chapter to 
accommodate the changes being made. 
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Chairman Johnson and members of the House Agriculture Committee, I am Carrie Larson, Plant 

Industries Director for the North Dakota Department of Agriculture (NDDA) here representing 

Agriculture Commissioner Doug Goehring. I am here today in support of SB 2025, which wi ll 

update and bring clarification to the beekeeping law. 

NDDA regulates all beekeepers in the state through licensing and registration of beekeepers and 

apiary (hive) locations. The apiary program is part of the plant industries division. 

Currently under NDCC §4- 1 2.2-07 in order to register an apiary location the beekeeper must 

submit a document with NDDA signed by both the beekeeper and the landowner or lessee. In 

20 1 4  over 1 2,000 locations were registered in the state. The proposed language in SB 2025 

removes the requirement of signed landowner forms, but stil l  requires the beekeeper to provide 

the name of the landowner or lessee to the department when notifying us of locations. 

Beekeepers are also required to obtain permission from that landowner before placing any hives. 

Removing the landowner forms will allow the department to have a more current, accurate list of 

registered locations. This change wil l  allow the department to create a more accurate map that 

may be used by pesticide applicators to locate apiaries. Furthermore, the updated information I 
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will allow beekeepers to communicate to the department and provides NDDA with updated 

landowner and lessee information to improve communication between beekeepers, applicators, 

and citizens. 

The current bill stipulates that an apiary can be moved at the request of the agriculture 

commissioner ifthere is evidence of a threat to an individual's  health or welfare. This section 

would not interfere with any contractual obligations the beekeeper has entered into, nor would it 

interfere with the desire of the landowner to have hives on their property. The movement of a 

location to the other side of a property might be a reasonable solution for all parties involved. 

The proposed language of adding a North Dakota beekeeper number as part of the identification 

on the hives would standardize identification across the state. The department receives many 

calls each summer from people trying to identify hives. This number will be much larger than 

they are able to print their contact information, and it would stand out against all of the other 

information that can be found on hives. This number will be placed at the top of the hive, to 

avoid grass from growing up over it throughout the course of the summer. Beekeepers will also 

be required to print their name and phone number in larger lettering than is required under 

current law (from 1/2" lettering to 1 .5" lettering).  These changes were added to increase 

visibility and ease identification of apiari�s .  

Currently, inspections are conducted at the request of the beekeeper for the purpose of issuing a 

certificate of health to aid in interstate movement of bees. Under proposed legislation the 

department would have the ability to offset some of the costs incurred by the inspection for a 

certificate of inspection or for any other inspection as requested by a beekeeper. 
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Africanized bees were a big topic the last time the beekeeping law underwent major changes, 

resulting in an extensive section on Africanized bees; however there was no way to protect the 

industry from any other potential threat. Legislative Council added a quarantine section to the 

bill which will allow the Department to establish restrictions that best fit the pest of concern; 

(Africanized bees, a parasite, or other threat). 

Under NDCC §4- 1 2.2 beekeepers were required to obtain an entrance permit prior to March 1st. 

If a beekeeper did not obtain one prior to that date, they would not be allowed to bring bees into 

the state for 60 days after receiving a permit. NDDA asked to have this section removed because 

there doesn't seem to be a realistic, feasible way to enforce this requirement. 

Chairman Johnson and committee members, thank you for your time, I urge a do pass on 

engrossed SB 2025 . I would be happy to answer any questions you may have . 
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North Dakota Department of Agriculture process on implementing requirements of the 
Beekeeping Law 

As part of the changes to the Apiary Program, starting in 20 1 3 , the department reached out to 
beekeepers across the state to educate them about the changes that were happening in the 
department and what their responsibilities were. In 20 1 3 , only warning letters were issued for 
unregistered locations. Each beekeeper received a letter explaining these changes. In 20 1 4  we 
started over with warning letters for the first violation. 

Warning and Fine letters 20 1 4  
• Warning letters to 45 beekeepers for 1 06 unregistered locations 
• Regulatory action taken against 2 1  beekeepers 
• Fines to beekeepers: 1 0  

o 9 fines for $ 1 50 for unregistered locations 
o 1 fine for $250 for no landowner permission 

Process for handling unregistered locations: 
• Office receives location information from inspector. 
• Warning letter is issued for the 1 st offense, beekeeper is given 1 5  days, from the letter 

date, to register the location or move the hives. 
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

If beekeeper does not register the location or move the hives, a fine is issued but 
suspended, giving them 1 5  days to register the location or sign a document testifying that 
the hives were moved by the given deadline. 

If sti ll unregistered or moved they get another letter with the fine amount listed and 
requirements to either register or move the hives AND pay the penalty. 

The original warning letter is a warning for that beekeeper to register all apiary locations, 
not just the ones that were listed in the original letter. If after a suspended fine is issued, 
we find additional unregistered yards belonging to the same beekeeper they move straight 
on to the fine letter with no suspended fine. 

If any penalty is not paid, the beekeeper wil l  not be able to obtain a beekeeper' s  license 
the following year until that penalty is paid. Currently, we have 3 beekeepers that will 
not be able to obtain a 20 1 5  beekeepers license due to unpaid fines. 

A beekeeper will only receive 1 warning letter in 5 years. If after 5 years they have had 
no other violations, they wil l  then receive a warning letter. Suspended fines wil l  only be 
issued for the first 2 violations; after that they will receive increasingly higher penalties 
and no suspended fines or warnings. I 
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Process for handling locations with no landowner permission 
• A landowner needs to call to report a location on their own property that has been placed 

with no landowner permission. The process is explained to the landowner so they know 
what action we will be taking and a timeline. 

• If we don ' t know who the beekeeper is an apiary inspector is sent to the location; we 
typically get to the location within 2 days 

• Once the beekeeper is identified, the inspector calls the office with the location and 
information. 

• A letter is sent to the beekeeper immediately with a suspended fine, giving them 10 days 
to move the hives or register the location (they are unlikely to get landowner permission) 

• After 10 days, assuming we have not heard from the landowner that the hives have been 
moved, the inspector goes back to the location. If the hives are still at the location the 
beekeeper is called and another certified letter is sent describing the penalty that they are 
responsible for paying. For no landowner permission the beekeeper is responsible for a 
penalty for each location that is found with no landowner permission. 

• If additional locations are found with no landowner permission, resulting in a second 
violation, the beekeeper immediately receives a fine and is given I 0 days to move the 
hives. Subsequent violations would result in increasingly higher penalties. 

Additional statistics for the Apiary Program 
• 7.8% increase in Registered Beekeepers 

• 205 in2013 

• 221 in 2014 

• 8.4% increase in Registered Colonies 

• 482,560 in 2013 

• 522,941 in 2014 

• 14.2% increase in Registered Locations 

• 11 ,050 in 2013 

• 12,620 in 2014 

• 40% decrease in complaints 

• 59 complaints in 2013 

• 24 complaints in 2014 

If you have any questions please feel free to contact Samantha Brunner, State Apiary Inspector, 
at 328-4765 or email sbrunner@nd.gov or contact Carrie Larson, Plant Industries Division 
Director, at 328-4723 or cllarson@nd.gov. 
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Chairman Johnson, members of the House Agriculture Committee, for the record my 
name is Terry Weckerly; I am a farmer and agribusiness owner from Hurdsfield, North 
Dakota and I am also Past President of the North Dakota Grain Growers Association. I 
appear here today on behalf of myself and the North Dakota Grain Growers Association 
in support of SB 2025 with amendments. 

There is one area of this bill that we feel could use a little strengthening; I would like to 
refer the Committee to page 2 lines 15 and 16 of the bill. NDGGA feels strongly that on 
Page 2 line 15 the Committee should add the word written before the word consent and 
on Page 2 line 16 after the words "property owner" insert the words on a yearly basis. I 
appear before you today to express why these changes are needed for myself and 
NDGGA to support the legislation. 

In the past, beekeepers have really had free rein with this permission issue. They call and 
get verbal permission and go about their business as if the permission were permanent. 
In my own operation I have acquired land and had beekeepers show up with no 
permission at all. r ve heard this story too many times from friends and acquaintances. 
When contacted, beekeepers claim they had permission from land owner. The reality of 
it is they don' t keep up with the permission grantors, written or verbal. The fact is that in 
agriculture, as in anything, things change; land ownership changes, land control changes, 
agriculture is a dynamic industry. We as farmers and landowners are asked daily to keep 
up with the changes in government paperwork; beekeepers in North Dakota should be 
asked to do the same. 

I've been told by beekeepers that they have too many people to deal with; that is not a 
reason it's an excuse. Obtaining written permission from landowners on a yearly basis 
not only would keep beekeepers up-to-date with land owner/operator fluctuations it 
would also help landowner/beekeeper public relations. It would also allow for better 
access to beekeepers by landowners and operators. 

NDGGA provides a voice for wheat and barley producers on domestic policy issues - such as crop insurance, disaster assistance 
and the Farm Bill - while serving as a source for agronomic and crop marketing education for its members. 

I 



• 

• 

Making sure that both farmers and beekeepers follow the rules is the purpose of SB 2025. 
Having beekeepers obtain written permission from landowners on a yearly basis will give 
everyone a better degree of accountability in the understanding of landowner/beekeeper 
rules and regulations. 

Therefore Chairman Johnson, members of the House Agriculture Committee, I come 
before you today on behalf of myself and the North Dakota Grain Growers Association to 
support SB 2025 with the amendments that I have suggested and with those amendments 
we support passage of the legislation . 
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Good Morning ! Thank  you for giving me the opportunity to share my thoughts and concerns on 
Senate Bi l l  2025. My name is �ie Jo Sunde�nd I am a crop consu ltant, mother, and a farmer's wife. I 
own and operate my own business, Northland Crop Consu lting Service; in Northeastern North Dakota and I 
a lso farm with my husband. I n  the following testimony I hope I explain where my concerns lie with some of 
the changes proposed in Senate Bi l l  2025 and potential compromises to improve the bi l l .  

Senate Bi l l  2025 is a step in the right direction but is sti l l  missing the mark on issues that are currently 
plaguing the state's apiary program. Current legislation has the beekeepers license fee at $5. I bel ieve that 
the cost of doing business warrants an increase of this dol lar amount. An increase to $25 would be 
reasonable. An example would be the Commercial pesticide l icense which costs over $80 every three years 
which would be equivalent to over $25 per year. If the reason for lack of oversight in the apiary program is 
cost, then these fees need to be considered for an increase. 

Many of my concerns are related to the section that addresses the Registration of an Apiary 
with the Department of Agriculture or as written in Senate Bil l 2025, Apia ry location - Notification. Current 
legislation states that each beekeeper sha l l  register a l l  apiaries that are or will be maintained by the beekeeper 
within the state at the same time an application for a license is made. The beekeeper has to provide the 
location of each apiary to the nearest section, q uarter section, township, and range. I do agree with the 
change that a l lows the location of apiaries to be made by using satell ite navigation system coordinates. The 
beekeeper is a lso requir�d under current 1aw to supply 'the naM� of the proilert:v«:w.tne�-on whose property 
the apiary is located and :a: �bpy oHh� written le�s� or.oth�F do�u�ent frorrFth� ·��o�1�rty owner granting the .- · . . ' . : . ' � 
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appl icant permission. This requirement h'as beeh removed iil the current propbsa l .  Ttie removal of this 
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requirement would create more' pro�lems and e�asperate 'c1.frreht problems that al ready exist in the apiary 
program. Senate bi l l  2025 m�k�s: Jn �tt�rhbt tb:i�dd�es� this: �b��erh by hMi°rig � ��hdition of l icensure; the 
applicant shal l  declare th.at, an apiary: will �<;>.t b�:p la�ed .at a locatio11 with9�t 1fi,r�t. o_bta.!ni_ng the consent of the 
property owner. When}�kin� !n.t() conside�atio�,thf:i numbe� of apifJries, tha,t. h�ve ,b��n placed on private 
property without landoyvr:i�r!) �orisept in the pa.st I !cann.ot s�e how �he [)ep�r,�n;i.en� ,9f; ;Agriculture can just take 
a beekeeper's word at haxi�� per,mi�sion �9 pl9cE:1 an (lP.iary:_on another l�l"ld.c>�r:i�r'.s property. Current issues 
in the state definitely shqw �,ha phere is ajreac;l,Y. an j�s�� wi�h .the p[acerpe,r:i� o�.fp,ia,�i�s on land without said 
landowner's or lessees': p�rrl'li��i��· )-;loY"'.eyer, i� pn1th� aP,plication for the registration of apiaries in the state 
of North Dakota we require the land owner's notarized signature we mitigate the need for a copy of a contract 
between the land owner andbeekee'perbut maintain the knowledg'e that the beeke'eper has permission to 
place apiaries on these :lota'tion's, ifhese' laridowhersiare often tfrnes uhknowirigfy incurring a l iabil ity when 
apiaries are placed on their la.rid: On the apiafy'i'egistratioh form, would it·be p6ssibie t'o insert a statement 
that the Beekeeper will assume· a l l  ithe :risk arid liabi lity' for the bees? The Registratibri bf apiaries is vital to 
keeping the balance between beeke·epers a·nd growers� The apiary progra'r'il; wheri :fol lowed, a l lows farmers to 
use the program to notify b'eekeepei's when thef are spraying insecticides :aiid fol low state/federal pesticide 
laws. ' I ' l f  
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Beekeepers a re curr,e_ntly1 r�Huir�q �o. h�"'.e a1placard �t or n�.ar  the E:1���4,rw.e9teach apiary that 
contains the beekeeper�s nam!:l, addre��; .aod telephor:ie number ... Many,beE;!keepers, i;f. they a re identifying the 

! . I . ' I . . I . . . 
' ,! .  . . .: ... • . ! • •  ' • l ' l • • " • . . J ' • •  I I . . l · ' � . l ' . • • 

apiary at a l l, are using spra� .. paint o� th�� h i�e Y? _giv� th� n,eH�ssa_ry. irifor!ll�ti,c;>.��:· ��"iing the placard at the 
entrance of each apiary makes ,it easy. to read for identifica,tion purpqses.and ·c;i lleviates the need for anyone to ·' . 1 • . f  .. I .  I . ' '· · ' .  " . . . . . . I • , • 1 .. . l ' ' . I · . ' 1 1  
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trespass on private property to obtain the needed contact 1information. When I say �ear the entrance of each 
apiary it needs to be clarified that not a l l  apiaries .can be seen from roads 'or property l ines. This placard should 
be placed at the entrance point that beekeepers utilize to access their apiary. This requirement shouldn't be 
considered a hardship for the beekeeper. This requiremeri.t has been part of our current law for over 10 years. 
If they want to place identification on the hive as a secondary identification then by all means I agree. 
However, if it is a location that the beekeeper has a long st1anding agreement and has placed an apiary there 2 

out of the last 3 years then I believe that a placard is needed. This keeps people from driving on or accessing 
property to find out information that could cause a l iabil ity to the landowner. 

There are many complaints in Northeastern North Dakota due to the large concentration of bees. The 
' . ' 'i . . beekeepers are placing a large number of apiaries in this part of the state because of the large amount of 

canola grown in that a rea. Bees can· produce niore honey off an acr
'
e of c�nola than they can off most other 

crops grown in this state. The honey industry claims that their bees are providing a service to the canola 
growers by pol l inating the canola . This cla im does not have any merit as the canola grown in  North Dakota is a 
hybrid which is self-poll inating. The only canola grown that is open pol l inating is canola grown for seed and 
there is no seed canola grown in North Dakota to my knowledge. Another claim is the increase in yield to 
canola because of the bees, however; this is not proven with hybrid canola and many producers that live and 
work in  the a rea would rather have a reduction in the number of bees because of the concerns for the hea lth 
and welfare of our  resi�ents. Ther,e. �as been a ,d,�as�ic �ncreas� ov�r, the l<!s.t,� Yiearf in, the number of apiaries 
in Cava lier County alone \IV�ich is t�e. ,largl;!st ca'}ola pr9duci�� 1area in �he .�tat�. :Thi� ayer concentration of 
bees is causing problems.for b�t,h farmers a,nd} ";ural i re.�iden�s ,al ikE1· The��J1iave ;be�ll fOmplaints from bees 
swarming a farmer's water trai !er; during the spraying. season and swarrns. in· rwal resident's yards. There are 

, . . . • . , , '· , . i , , , � . I 1. • , , • J t , l I • . , • · . • , • · 

many possible solutions t9t�es�1 prqbl,erns. : Sofl'1e pro�Jel'l')s 9f overi. ccmce.nt�(!tion :ar,i�e from unregistered 
apiaries that wouldn't be the.re if ,stiff.fines and penalties wer� in pl(lce b�cause most o.f the time they do not 

· • , 1 , , ! , , , , , , •• , , , , •. , , 1 , \ , , t , :'. , l � , , , I I , . I 

have land owners permission .to. ,be ,there. A high percentage of complaints from rural residents and fa rmer's 
I • • • • • , • ! . , . 1 , • • , • • • ·• 1 ' . 1 • • , , I � 1. • I • I •  

a rise in  August thru Octob,e.r IN:h�n :b��s a,re stillour9.'} api<l�ir'. 1.oca�ipns ev�n.when there is no or l ittle food and 
water for them. Poll ination usual ly is done for most crops by the end of Ju ly or early August so having bees out 
on apiaries i nto late fa l l  ca1J'ses 'the' beestb 'seardi out water ;and food. 'Often tinies! this leads them to yards. 
Placing a requirement thatbees 'be re·moved from Apiai-y locations by Ai:igbst315.1 would el iminate these 
compla ints. We sholildil�t be'a h01diiig ground .fdr the bees espedally if it is:tausirig a ·nu isance to our rural 
residents.  i ;  ;: ; i :  l ; : 1  · � · · :  c = • ·  

I have contacte,�1t�e 1pep�rtme�t1of Ag!,i�ultyre mariy ti�es in  t�er !as_t, 5 yea,�si t� complain about 
u nregistered and unidentifi�d apia.ri�s: rvio.�t;0f'ten �h�;unregj�terep an� u.n!q�nti,fied �piaries are placed on 
property without the . landowner,.or lessee's permiss\on. This cr.eates problems. for farmers when they are on a 

. • • ' ' ! • . ! : ,, : I ' l ' : . •  ' •. • . : . ' I • ! ' ' ·' I . � I I . . :: :' I · . 

deadl ine to spray an inse�t.iFi�ei ;b,ut �he fppner!ei�he,r does�.':t .kn��!·i;iboy� ;<;i�:·C)P,iary .� hat is nearby and sprays 
or they found an unregistE(r'.e,d ·ap\arv:.��� pon't �n0."1".,IJJhO ��E:i . b17es 1belongy�. Th�p�p,a rtment of Agriculture 
needs to have oversight t�rough, the a.pi;ary 1program so .that .landowner's/farmers/rural residents have 

, 1 , I I •  , • •. •• • : . , '· • • ! • 1 . , . f  , I • : I ' , , , • I • � • ' ·  , I , , 

recourse when a n  issue ;arises,. but p;art, of this oversight mearis enforcem�nt� The lack ,of enforcement and 
I ,  , , , • I ' . . . , . . . 1 j , . • . , I t .  • , 1  :• I  . I . I I ! , . 

penalties towards be�k�_epe.rs i�qa� a.re�':t f�l lo�i_pg C,!Jr;�en� �t�t�., li3)';' has_ ,e�a,s_p�rat�d :problems in our a rea.  
bel ieve immediate fines ?.r:i� .p,e;n,�l.�i�,s; s.h,9�ld .�1e �iyer1�0 bee�e�pws .rio�;fo[lq:w,ing cyrrent state laws. The 

" • : " ' "' ! I ' '• • •  I •  
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Department of Agriculture also needs to have a system of �hecks and balances t_o address possible fraud 
situations. I n  the past some apiary registrations were filed with the state using incorrect or  false information. 

Senate bill 2025 makes an effort to 1implement a step by step procElSS for nuisance complaints that 
al lows rural residents to nave. a prescribed course of ac::tion t9 follow wheri pr,eblems arise. However this 
process is vague and should be a little more spedfic. : A nuisance complaint that js filed with the Department of 
Agriculture should be addressed within 5 to 10 days. First a physical insp\:!c�ion of the location should occur in 
a timely manner to make. sure adequate food and water is .there for. the b,ees and if a possible reduction in size 
of the apiary could m itigate or lessen the problem. Relying primarily on documentary �vidence only, doesn't 
necessarily d escribe the problem accurately. Second if the problem persists then the apiary should be 
removed to a location as far away from the ;res,idence �hile still on the property that the beekeeper has 
permission to be on.  The n  if ?fter al.I measures are taken to make t�e cohabitation work and the nuisance 
hasn't decreased; the apiary should be moved completely. Updating our current legislation while maintaining 
specific points from current law along with enforcing that law would go a long ways towards mitigating the 
conflict that has arisen between beekeepers and farmers. 

Lessening the responsibility of the Department of Agriculture and relaxing our current laws and 
regulations will only create more problems and conflict. The Department of Agriculture's responsibility is to 
run the a piary program to benefit both beekeepers and farmers. Be��eeping is consi�ered an agricultural 
enterprise and as such' shbuld be fr�ated with the' same care as the··�t�te's p�'hicid�' "prbgram in safety, 
welfare, and complia�c�: . .  ehicir2eme:rit:of ��r la�s will beni:!fi't both �i'ae� in k�epr�:�·;ti6Mey production a top 
producer in our state. : : ! : . : , :  : : i ·, . ; . :: . 

Kristie Sundeen 
10555 55th ST NE 

1 • .  • : . : · ·  '. ; : 1·: : 1 1 · :· �: ,: : :i · · : (  r 1. · .: : '. · �  

Brocket, ND 58321 : 1:1 " ;· ( : '; · ; : �� :.• I i . '. :· :: i: : � : :  ::,;; ! : i r ; · : : : : I  : :i :: :: : o  .: · i 'ii ' i • : � 
(701) 655-3566 - home: : :  ': · : :· 1: .:;::' ::!:: .. · :r : r: (7.01) 256-0964 ..:.,: cell · r  · ', r · ·. :: l: u :  : ·· : schill 2'@ hotmail .com 
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Testimony o 

In S:.;:u����;:..:...::_:...... 

Chairman Johnson and members of the House Agriculture Committee, my name is 

Bonnie Woodworth. My husband and I manage 3600 colonies of honey bees in  the 

Hal l iday, North Dakota area. 

Most beekeepers ,  including myself, would l ike to be at the hearing in  person today, 

however this t ime of year is a crucial t ime of moving bees out of almond orchards in 

Cal iforn ia; bu i ld i ng and spl itting colonies; and raising queen bees in  the south and 

west . So unfortunately, almost al l  the beekeepers are out of state and busy with their 

bees and u nable to attend . 

I have worked with the Department of Agricu lture d uring my many years of 

involvement with the North Dakota Beekeeper's  Association and Honey Promotion 

activities. We have had a good working relationship and try to be receptive to change 

and helpfu l in resolving issues that arise. 

I would ask for your support of SB 2025 without further amendments. It has been 

revised many times and I feel the changes that have been made are beneficial to 

beekeepers ,  landowners and the Department of Agriculture .  

Thank you for your t ireless work i n  help ing make North Dakota a great place to do 

business . 
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Testimony before the House Agricu lture Committee on ;[(; 
�elated to Apiaries and Beekeeping S/tJ /! � 

Good morn i ng Co m m ittee M e m bers. Tha n k  you for a l lowi ng us  to speak to you today. M y  

n a m e  i(§i'sti n  McGr� My wife a n d  I operate a fou rth generation fa rm located where the 

corners of Wa lsh, Cava l ier, a n d  Ramsey cou nties meet. I am here representing a group of 

fa rmers from the a rea rega rding the lack of enforcement of cu rrent N D  laws rega rd i ng honey 

bee fa rming a n d  the overpopulation of bees. If you a re not from a major canola growing a rea, 

you may be u nawa re of the safety issues so me i n d ividuals are facing. From the outset I wa nt 

yo u to u n de rsta nd we a re not here to try to e l i m i nate the bee ind ustry as some may have read 

or heard .  We a re here beca use we fee l  that the cu rrent laws a re one sided and that the 

p roposed b i l l  is a ste p  in the right d i rection for equa l  representatio n .  

We rea l ize t h a t  staff m e m bers o f  t h e  Dept. o f  Agricu lture ca n o n ly enforce laws a n d  regu l ations 

that a re passed by the North Da kota Legislature. The Dept. of Ag te l ls us they do not have the 

' fu nds to h i re the m a n power to do so. We strongly recommend that the Dept. of Ag be 

a p propriated fu nds to h i re at least one, p referably two, addit ional  seasonal  workers per yea r. 

They shou ld  be stationed where the h igher concentration of bees a re l ocated . 

As a voti ng citizen of N D  it feels as  if the beekeeper a n d  h is/her business has more rights than a 

person who is  trying to p rotect the safety of h imself/herself, h is/her fa m i ly a nd neighbors .  An 

e�a m ple being:  If a beekeeper p laces an apiary on a piece of land without perm ission and a n  

i n d ivid u a l  wa nts/needs t o  obta i n  that beekee per's i nformation, that i n d ivid u a l  now has to 

trespass onto that p roperty to fi nd the i nformation.  Now if the person looking for the 

i nfo rmation gets stu ng and h as an a l lergic reaction and d ies, the property owner is l iable n ot the 

beekeeper even though the beekeeper broke the law by not having perm ission to have the bees 

on that p roperty. 

This s u m m e r  a gro u p  of us from the a rea had a meeti ng with a Dept. of Ag representative 

L showing h im/h er the a m o unt of bees being p laced at ap iaries .  Most apiaries conta i ned a n  

u n reaso n a b le a m o u nt of bees. We a lso showed this e m ployee that 40-50% of the apiaries i n  o u r  
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area were u n registered with no contact information - breaking the state law. Bei ngs t here a re 

many violators, I do thi n k  that a n  i ncrease i n  fi nes or harsher pena lties a re with in  reason fo r 

those violators. 

Th is p roposed law 2025 has fa l len under m uch scrutiny, a nd how it wou l d  be d evastat ing to the 

bee ind ustry. Let me ask you this.  How wou ld placing a sign with the beekeepers contact 

information at the poi nt of entry of the property, ( I  have to put up m u lt iple n o  h u nting signs on 

a single piece of land for deer h u nting) getting a writteri lease with the property owne r, and 

givi ng someon e  with a perma nent residence a process to have an apiary removed if  i t  is 

threatening the person or  persons fa m i ly's safety going to destroy the i n d ustry i n  this state ? 

Th is p roposed b i l l  wi l l  enforce the l aws that are a l ready in p lace.  Therefore, if you as a busi ness 

owner are c u rrently fol lowi ng the law, how would this be devastating to you r  b usi ness? The 

majo rity of the time that an apiary would have to be moved is the res u lt of the h ives being 

placed where they sho u l d  not be i n  the first p lace .  

M a ny times d u ring the past two summers my wife and I were not ab le  to be i n  our ya rd beca use 

of the concentration of bees present due to a l l  the nearby a piaries. My wife a n d  I recently had a 

ba by. I hope that I won't have to tel l  my son that he ca n't go outside to play because of the 

bees. What's worse is to fea r  that he may get stung so many times that he d evelops an a l lergic 

reaction which is happe n i ng to me. With i n  two mi les i n  d ifferent d irections from my h ouse yo u 

ca n find seven apiaries ! Yea rs ago I d id  not have m uch of a problem but the n u m ber of sites has 

risen and the n u m ber of bees at  each site is out of control to the poi nt where it's not safe. The 

overpopulation of bees and the issue of location of bees too c lose to fa rmstead s  and roads has 

resu lted in fa rmers being unab le  to work i n  their ya rds.  In  the fields fa rmers a re consta ntly 

st�ng when they_get o�t of their  equipment cabs to work on eq uip ment or put gra i n  in or ta ke 

gra in out of their  bins. There have been instances when service repa ir  person nel  have refused 

to conti nue working on equipment in the fie lds beca use they are getting stu ng. 

I checked with the Cava l ier Cou nty Memoria l Hospita l and a local pharmacy to see if they've 

seen a n  i ncrease in bee sti ngs. Between 20 12 and 2014 CCM H's n u m ber of patients beca use of 

bee sti ngs ( i nc l udes people who came to the hospita l 24-72 hours post sting with con ce rns 
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a bout swe l l i ng or  i nfection a n d  those a rriving the day of the sting with concerns a bout a l l e rgic 

rea ctions)  has doubled .  The pha rmacy has seen a 4% increase in the n u m ber of EpiPens issued 

over the last two yea rs. 

Rega rd ing the overpo pu lation of honey bees, I want to offer th is exa m ple.  Farmer #1 p laces 

h ives i n  fou r  sepa rate locations, proba bly at corners of a th ree mile squa re.  That is good. Then 

Fa rmer #2 comes a l o ng a n d  pla ces fou r  separate gro u ps of h ives i nterspersed with Farmer #l's 

h ives. Lastly Farmer #3 shows up and p laces fou r  gro u ps of h ives i nte rmi ngled in between 

Farmer #1 a n d  #2's h ives. We now h ave 12 sets of  h ives c l ustered with i n  that three mi le sq u a re .  

If each group of  h ives is a flat bed of  400 h ives, we now have 4800 h ives i n  that  sma l l  area . I do 

bel ieve that  th ere should  be a way to have the concentration of  bees spread out  more than they 

cu rrently a re. This wo u l d  e l i m i nate the overflyi ng of bees over the sa me a reas and help 

e l i m i n ate the serious  overpopu lation of bees that our a rea cu rrently has. There is a lot of l a n d  

a ro u n d .  With s o m e  p l a n n i ng th is s h o u l d  not adversely i m pa ct h oney prod uction.  I n  m y  a rea i t  

seems that a lot of t h e  p roblem comes from beekeepers t h a t  a ren't usua l ly from N D .  I know 

that some may suffer from the bad decisions of others but that is pa rt of doing busi ness. One 

bad app le  ca n ruin the bunch.  

I fee l  that  m a ny issues cou ld  have been pol iced by the beekeepers themselves a nd the Dept. of 

Ag, but from the feed back that I and others have received, the com pla int p rocess at the Dept. of 

Ag is b roken, vi rt u a l ly nonexistent. After d iscussion at one of o u r  m eetings, the Dept. of Ag does 

not h ave a proper proced u re in place for docu menting co mpla ints, reso lving issu es, and 

p rovi d i ng feedback.  H ow ca n there be a record of a com pla int when the person you ca l l  does 

n ot record the co m pla int? I a m  l ooking forwa rd to hearing a bout a new a nd i m proved p rocess 

from the Dept.  of Ag. The department is a lso stating that they a re stepping up enforcem ent but 

why n ot u nti l  n ow? There have been more co m p l a i nts in  the Wa lsh and Cava l ier  Cou nty a reas 

th a n  the Dept. of Ag. is letting o n .  There have been meeti ngs where the Dept. of Ag. has been 

shown in person a n d  o n  m a ps where the i l lega l ap iaries were l ocated and at the Senate hearing 

Dep uty Co m m issioner Bod i ne stated they have only given one fi ne a n d  yet they have had L n u m e rous com pla ints over the yea rs.  Someone is not doing their jo b !  Bon n ie Woodworth i n  
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the AgWeek newspaper was quoted stating that most issues are resolved involvi ng a pi aries. 

How do you resolve an issue with an u n registered a piary when there is no contact information? ! 

Rights of a resident versus rights of a beekeeper. I have been told by local pol iticia ns  that a 

beekeeper has the right to do what he/she wants on property he/she owns. As a l a n d owner or  

resident near th is  land with apiaries on it, now I l ose some of  my rights beca use he/sh e  decided 

to have bees? For ex? m ple, this beekeeper can have bees on th is property near my residence 

which in turn not on ly affects my q u a l ity of l ife but restricts a fa rmer from spraying at certa i n  

times. The actions of one person negatively affect the other a n d  cu rrently there's noth ing the 

one ind ivid ua l  can do to remedy the situation.  

I rea l ize trying to resolve the issue of apiaries too c lose to residences is  difficu lt, but a n  

ind ivid ua l's safety sho u l d  ta ke precedence n o  matter what ! 

I a lso attended a meeting with the Dept. of Ag ea rly this winter i n  La ngdon, N D. I shared a m a p  

of western Walsh County, Cava l ier Cou nty, a n d  northern Ramsey Cou nty showing a l l  t h e  

registered bee apiaries printed from t h e  Dept. of Ag's website. P l ease keep i n  mind t h a t  th ere 

were people stating nearly 50% of apiaries in their  a rea are u n registered . 

Spink County i n  South Da kota is rough ly the same size as  Cava l ier County i n  North Da kota- 1,5 10 

sq u a re mi les.  Spink Cou nty has 76 registered apiaries accord i ng to SD website. In Cava l ier 

Co u nty I cou nted 284 registered apia ries. If you double the n u mber (beca use possibly on ly h a lf 

a re registered ) it's more l ike 568. That is 7.5 t imes more than i n  the sa me size cou nty i n  South 

Dakota . Then if you ta ke 1,510 squ a re mi les d ivided by 568 that averages out to be one apiary 

every 2.7 sq u a re mi les.  That's a lot of bees ! If more beekeepers wa nt to come to the canola 

growing areas of North Dakota, there wi l l  be major issues. I fee l  beekeepers should be cutting 

back their n u m bers in t h is a rea .. .  not i ncreasing them. If South Da kota is a ble to regu l ate its 

n u m ber of bees, I 'm sure North Dakota can figure out a beneficia l system a lso. 

Overa l l  I feel with every issue both parties a re supposed to have equa l  rights. With the issues I 

have b rought to your  attention it sure doesn't seem that the citizens, taxpayers, a n d  voters h ave 

the sa me rights as the beekeepers. Certa i n  state agencies put a deaf ear to those of us that 
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h ave com pl a ints a n d  cater com pl etely  to the bee ind ustry. That is n ot right. These agencies a re 

fu n d ed by taxpayer do l l a rs. Therefore, when taxpayers have issues with a certa in industry, <:� � these issues should b e  considered i n  a bipartisan way. I 'm asking that you p lease take the time 

to l ook i nto these issues a nd put you rself in the shoes of an i ndividu a l  dea l i ng with 

overpopul ation s  of h o n ey bees every s um me r. 

With a l l  this information being add ressed tod ay, p lease contact m e  if you have a ny q uestio ns. 

tha n k  you for you r  ti m e  and support. 

Dustin M cG regor, 

Fairdal e, N D  
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(Shauna Schneide-D 
1 021 7 98th Ave 

Wales, ND 58281 
701 -370-0398 

schnid@utma.com 

Chairman and House Committee Members, 

Good Morning ! I am Shauna Schneider. My husband and I are 4th generation farmers 
near Wales, ND .  Over the past few years we have noticed a dramatic increase in bee 
activity around our farm and farmlands. In recent years, missi le sites throughout the 
county have been purchased by bee keepers for the purpose of housing apiaries. As 
you can see on the enclosed map our farm and the missile site location we have near 
us. The site is surrounded by our fields of which there has never been permission to 
pol l inate g iven for our crops, but because they own the missile site, they put hives out 
and use our crops for honey production .  We can't farm our land properly because of 
the bees, which hinders yield and promotes disease. I don't feel this is fair  and quite 
frankly I don't need bees to pol l inate my crops, my crops are self pol l inating . It is 
stealing, if you don't have permission to take or use something, that is stealing. There 
needs to be something in the law that requires permission in cases l ike this. 

During the summer we have no issues with bees, but when everything fin ishes 
blooming up north and the honey is taken from the hives, the hives are left out, and 
there are issues everywhere. Our yard is overtaken with bees and they are aggressive 
because they are looking for something to pollinate and there is nothing left. They are 
also aggressive in the fal l  of the year because al l  of their usual water sources are now 
stale and covered with slime which means they are looking for fresh water. We have a 
garden, water for our cattle and pets al l  of which are over taken with bees. My husband 
and hired man are allergic to bees and can't even work in the yard . At this time of the 
year we are trying to get ready for harvest or some years beginning harvest. All medical 
costs are put on us with epi pens and hospital visits. I can't work in the yard or my 
garden. CHS refuses to drop off chemical in the fal l  in our yard and we can't get fuel 
delivered because the bees swarm any vehicle that comes into the yard. I think it is 
important to have a set back clause in the new law that states that hives are to be 
removed from locations that are located within 2 miles from any rural residence, bin site 
or municipality within two weeks once crop flowering has ended. This wou ld be the time 
beekeepers are taking honey and a good time to relocate hives el iminating many 
problems in our county and state. 

There is a water board member from Rolette County that had a terrible, life threatening 
experience on August 1 st, 201 4. Sherwood Haakenson was mowing the road side 
ditches, as we are required by law, with an open cab tractor. He remembers being 
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swarmed by bees while mowing .  Someone found him and got him to the hospital. His 
throat was swollen shut, he was in critical condition and he almost lost his l ife. 
Sherwood came out of it, but was told later that when he was found, every inch of his 
body was covered with bees. After recovery, Sherwood ran into the owner of the hive 
who apologized to Sherwood for the incident tel l ing him that he had been trapping bees 
in southern California and must have trapped some Africanized bees (a/k/a killer bees) 
in that hive.  There was nothing marking the apiary and Sherwood had no idea there 
was even an apiary in that location .  I think it is important to have something in the bee 
law that deals with what needs to be done when this happens. We have hives coming 
in from all over down south with no accountabil ity or  responsibi l ity regarding a situation 
l ike this. 

In Cavalier County we have a road crew that oils and sands our county highways every 
summer. Last year the crew had an incident where they were working, not aware they 
were coming upon an apiary. They noticed bees starting to swarm the truck and before 
they knew what was going on a crew member was stung, he happened to be allergic to 
bees and didn't have an epi pen with him. The crew rushed him to the emergency room 
and thankfully he was okay. Afterwards they looked over the area and noticed an apiary 
right off the county highway. Work on that road was abandoned and never completed. 
Hives are being placed too close to highways endangering highway maintenance crews. 

At the Senate Committee hearing it was recommended that the wording "beekeeping is 
an agricultural practice" be removed from the law. I believe it should be removed. 
Problem being, you cannot report bees as a nuisance issue if they are an agricultural 
practice. These are an invasive species brought in and out of our area and should not 
be labeled agriculture. 

According to current ND Century Code, no one is legal in our county with beekeeping 
regarding identification and on top of that over half the hives we have up north are not 
even registered . You combine the unregistered hives with the registered hives and we 
are over run by bees in Cavalier County. We've complained, begged and pleaded on 
deaf ears for help regarding the bee issues. Those of us who call for help or to report 
i l legal hives get the run around such as, "we don't have the funds to enforce the law," or  
"we don't have the staff or  equipment to enforce the law" and my personal favorite "we 
can't do anything with nuisance issues because bees are an agricultural practice and 
can't be a nuisance." This is the time to create "BALANCE" with beekeeping and 
landowners. We are looking to you for help in creating balance. 

Thank you so much for your time. If you have any questions or would l ike to contact 
me, please don't hesitate in doing so. 

Sincerely, 
Shauna Schneider 
Cavalier County Resident 
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Chairman Joh nson an� Agricu ltu re co�mittee members 

��..;.....;...;:;..;_,,;.;..;.......,,.� om Beulah,  N D. I stand oppose to 
Eng rossed Senate Bi  2025 hat is before the Agricu lture committee today. 
I have the u nderstand i ng of the comments of Bon n ie Woodworth who is 
represents North Dakota Beekeepers Association and Doug Goeh ring , 
Agricu lture Commissioner l ike the rewrite of the North Dakota centu ry code 
dea l i ng with Beekeepi n g .  I disag ree. There needs to be some changes in 
th is b i l l .  
On page 2,  u nder 4 . 1 - 1 6-02 Beekeeper's License section , l i ne 1 5  to 1 6 , 

"An apiary wi l l  not be placed at a location without first obtain ing the consent 
of the property owner" .  This sentence n eed to be change to have "written 
consent" instead meaning "verbal permission".  I can see a beekeeper say 
they have verbal permission without talk ing to the property owner. It wi l l  be 
pro perty owner word vs. beekeeper. Who are you going to bel ieve? 
Next, stayi ng on page 2 in same 4. 1 - 1 6-02 section,  l ines 1 7  to 25, th i s  

subsection a l lows a complaint of location of bee apiary i f  the ind ividu a l  
resides adjacent to the apiary of where the location is than the Ag ricu lture 
Commissioner has the authority to remove the bee apiary from that 
location.  There is no wording for al lowi ng any pu bl ic taxpayer able to make 
a com plaint about nu isance of bee apiary or in  any other part of th is b i l l .  
On page 3 ,  u nder 4 . 1 - 1 6-08 Apiary location section , l ine 2 5 ,  the word s "or 

leases" should be remove from this sentence. The i ndividual who l eases 
the land is not the property owner. If an i nd ividual  who leases the property 
a l lows bee a piary on the property, how do we know if the property owner 
wants the bee apiary on the pro perty. Some property owners who lease the 
farm land do not l ive on their pro perty. 
I do own pro perty farm land wh ich I have told the ind ividual who lease the 

land that no bee apiary on the property. 
Sti l l  on page 3 ,  starti n g  on l ine 29 conti nue to page 4 l ine 1 -9, 4 . 1 - 1 6- 09 

Identification of apiary section . The Identification of apiary has been 
ongoing problem for many years .  The beekeepers have not been fol lowing 
the current code in  4- 1 2 . 2- 1 4  where the beekeeper is to post a weather 
proof board with beekeeper name, address a nd telephone number at or 
near the mai n entrance of each apiary or on a beehive. It seems the 
beekeepers do not want the publ ic to get th is information in  order to cal l  
the m  or fi le a complai nt to an official . H ow is the Agricu ltu re department 
going to enfo rce th is section? It would not be too costly where the 
beekeeper put the Identification of apiary on the post at entrance of 
property. 

f 
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Page 6,  l i ne �o . 4 . 1 - 1 6- 1 8 Beekeeping- Agricu ltural  pr.actice. I do not 
agree to this section needed in th is b i l l  due to 42-04-0 1 - Agricu ltu ral  
Operation defi ned. 

There is noth ing in this bi l l  about a setback of bee a piary from any state or 
federal  paved road . There has been complaints to Agriculture department 
about the bee a piaries too close to paved road. There has been bi l ls  
introd uced i n  1 989,  1 995, 1 997 and 2 0 1 3 deal ing with setback of bee 
apiaries. I know in the past my com plai nts was considered as one 
com plaint even thoug h I cal l  or emai l  a bout d ifferent locations of bee apiary 
duri ng the summer season.  I have been informed the total amou nt of 
com plaints a bout bee apiary location is low. The general publ ic do not 
know where to fi le  the complai nt or i ndividuals a re ti red to fi le a complaint 
because there has been no results . 
Al l the general  publ ic is asking for some distance of setback from a state 

or federal  paved road . How is it safe when I d rive by a bee apiary that is on 
the edge of pro perty along a paved road getting the wi ndshield fu l l  of bee 
honey? Windshield washer fl u id makes seei ng out the windshield worst. 
Why do you see beekeepers wear safety gear at bee apiary but they say 
bees a re safe? I have heard a few comments in the past from beekeepers 
the reason for bee apiary so close to paved roads which are not work i ng for 
the general p ubl ic. 
I do not see any improvement with th is bil l  to replace the current Chapter 

4-1 2.2 i n  N orth Dakota Century Code.  
Thank you for a l lowing me to speak against th is b i l l  and wi l l  take any 

questions. 

Kevin H errmann 
300 Fair St. SW 
Beulah ,  N D  58523 
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Civil Penalty Authority*: 

Beekeeping 
NDCC 4-12.2 
NDAC 7-02 

#9 
I tT/YI- ~cf!_~--f/te 
55 ;)_o~ 

s/11/15 
N.D.C.C. 4-12.2-22 authorizes a civil penalty not to exceed $5,000 for each violation of 

associated statutes or rules. 

Civil Penalty Guidelines for Violations of N.D.C.C. 4-12.2: 

Statute Violation Civil Penalty 

4-12.2-04 
License. Maintaining bees without a valid No warning 
beekeeper's license. 100 to 1000 

4-12.2-07 Registration. Failure to register an apiary. 
Landowner permission: Warning -1000 

No landowner permission: 250-1000 

Nuisance. Commissioner may cancel a 
4-12.2-08.1 registration if the apiary is causing a nuisance Cancel registration 

as defined in Chapter 42-01. 

Identification of Colonies. Failure to 
W aming to 500 or 

4-12.2-14 
identify colonies per the statute. 

Deemed abandoned and subject to 
seizure. 

Africanized Honey Bees. Use a swarm of 
4-12.2-18.1 honey bees positively identified as being 1000 to 5000 

Africanized in a beekeeping operation. 

4-12.2-20 
Shipment. Failure to obtain an entrance 

Warning 
permit. 

*Violations ofthis chapter are also guilty of a class A misdemeanor. 




